REVIEW



Alterations in brain fluid physiology during the early stages of development of ischaemic oedema



Stephen B. Hladky^{1*} and Margery A. Barrand¹

Abstract

Oedema occurs when higher than normal amounts of solutes and water accumulate in tissues. In brain parenchymal tissue, vasogenic oedema arises from changes in blood-brain barrier permeability, e.g. in peritumoral oedema. Cytotoxic oedema arises from excess accumulation of solutes within cells, e.g. ischaemic oedema following stroke. This type of oedema is initiated when blood flow in the affected core region falls sufficiently to deprive brain cells of the ATP needed to maintain ion gradients. As a consequence, there is: depolarization of neurons; neural uptake of Na⁺ and Cl⁻ and loss of K⁺; neuronal swelling; astrocytic uptake of Na⁺, K⁺ and anions; swelling of astrocytes; and reduction in ISF volume by fluid uptake into neurons and astrocytes. There is increased parenchymal solute content due to metabolic osmolyte production and solute influx from CSF and blood. The greatly increased [K⁺]_{ief} triggers spreading depolarizations into the surrounding penumbra increasing metabolic load leading to increased size of the ischaemic core. Water enters the parenchyma primarily from blood, some passing into astrocyte endfeet via AQP4. In the medium term, e.g. after three hours, NaCl permeability and swelling rate increase with partial opening of tight junctions between blood-brain barrier endothelial cells and opening of SUR1-TPRM4 channels. Swelling is then driven by a Donnan-like effect. Longer term, there is gross failure of the blood-brain barrier. Oedema resolution is slower than its formation. Fluids without colloid, e.g. infused mock CSF, can be reabsorbed across the bloodbrain barrier by a Starling-like mechanism whereas infused serum with its colloids must be removed by even slower extravascular means. Large scale oedema can increase intracranial pressure (ICP) sufficiently to cause fatal brain herniation. The potentially lethal increase in ICP can be avoided by craniectomy or by aspiration of the osmotically active infarcted region. However, the only satisfactory treatment resulting in retention of function is restoration of blood flow, providing this can be achieved relatively quickly. One important objective of current research is to find treatments that increase the time during which reperfusion is successful. Questions still to be resolved are discussed.

Keywords ATP depletion, Astrocyte swelling, Neuronal swelling, Aquaporin 4, Perivascular spaces, CSF influx, Spreading depolarization, Blood–brain barrier permeability, Donnan effect, Reperfusion

Table of Contents

- 1 Introduction
 - 1.1 Types of oedema
 - 1.2 Cytotoxic oedema
 - 1.3 Vasogenic oedema
 - 1.4 Other types of swelling

*Correspondence: Stephen B. Hladky

sbh1@cam.ac.uk

¹ Department of Pharmacology, Tennis Court Rd., Cambridge CB2 1PD, UK



© The Author(s) 2024. **Open Access** This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated in a credit line to the data.

- 2 Cytotoxic oedema associated with ischaemic stroke. Onset
- 3 Initial events in the development of ischaemic oedema
 - 3.1 Depolarization of neurons in the core and the immediate consequences
 - 3.2 Spreading depolarizations in the penumbra and beyond
 - 3.3 Uptake of Na⁺, K⁺ and anions by astrocytes and their resultant swelling in the core.
 - 3.4 Changes in ISF and development of oedema
 - 3.5 Sources of solutes added to the parenchyma during development of oedema
 - 3.5.1 Influx of solutes via CSF
 - 3.5.2 Fluxes of solutes across the blood-brain barrier
 - 3.5.2.1 Effects on passive fluxes
 - 3.5.2.2 Effects on active transport
 - 3.5.3 Production of osmotically active solutes within the parenchyma
 - 3.6 Role of AQP4 in astrocyte endfeet
- 4 The medium term: changes in the blood–brain barrier enhancing oedema formation
 - 4.1 Maintenance of the driving forces for uptake of NaCl and water into the parenchyma
 - 4.2 Increased permeability of the blood-brain barrier to NaCl
 - 4.2.1 The involvement of SUR1-TRPM4 cation channels in the formation of oedema
 - 4.2.2 Paracellular: The impact of partial opening of tight junctions on oedema formation
- 5 The long term: gross failure of the blood-brain barrier. Haemorrhagic transformation
- 6 Reperfusion
- 7 Resolution of oedema
- 8 Overview and summary
- 9 Conclusions
- Appendix A

Does oedema per se cause neuronal damage in ischaemia?

Appendix B

Lactic acidosis in ischaemia

Appendix C

Ischaemic responses of neurons and astrocytes

Neurons

Ions

Water Astrocytes Ions Water Appendix D

The early changes in tissue volume, Na⁺ and K⁺ content and osmolality following onset of ischaemia.

Appendix E

The Donnan effect, cell swelling and oedema References

1 Introduction

Previous reviews in this series [1–5] have covered the principles of regulation of the composition, volume and circulation of brain extracellular fluid (ECF). This review looks at changes in distribution of intracellular fluid (ICF) and ECF in the early stages of ischaemic oedema within the brain. The term oedema refers to *tissue* swelling that results from excess accumulation of watery fluid. This can happen in any part of the body, but this review focusses on that which occurs in brain parenchymal tissue [6, 7].

The barriers to movements of substances between ICF, interstitial fluid (ISF), cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) and blood plasma are sufficiently permeable to water to allow water movements to maintain the osmolality of brain parenchyma closely equal to that in plasma (see appendix B in [1]). Hence even though most of the volume increase occurring during oedema formation results from increased water, in the absence of a change in plasma osmolality there must be accumulation of solutes. There are three possible sources of the additional solutes within the affected region of the parenchymal tissue:

- catabolism of molecules;
- transport from blood across the blood-brain barrier;
- transport from CSF either via perivascular pathways or across the brain surfaces, i.e. across the ependyma lining the ventricles or the pia lining the subarachnoid spaces.

The relative contribution of solutes from these different sources will vary depending on the nature of the oedema, its location and the stage of its development. For example, new osmoles from catabolism may be dominant in regions of necrosis following contusion [8–11] because breakup of proteins and other macromolecules could easily generate enough small molecules to double the amount of solute in a region.

Where oedema is localized, the surrounding regions can usually deform to accommodate the swelling without compromising the local blood flow or disrupting connections between cells. Hence localised oedema is regarded by some as a sign rather than a cause of further development of pathology (see appendix A). However, there must be limits to the degree of swelling. The sum of the volumes of blood, ECF and ICF, together with the solids (see Fig. 2 of [1]) must add up to the volume enclosed by the skull (the Monro-Kellie dogma, see e.g. [12]). Thus if the sum of ICF and ISF, i.e. the tissue fluid volume, increases, the volumes of one or more of the other components must decrease. The volume of blood is normally about 4% of the total cranial volume and small decreases have little consequence. Somewhat larger changes in brain tissue volume can be accommodated by adjusting outflow of CSF and hence the volume it occupies within the cranium. However, still larger total oedema volumes can develop and these may have serious consequences.

Firstly, the increased volume can increase total pressure which can compress cerebral blood vessels sufficiently to reduce blood flow and produce ischaemia, damage and further oedema.

Secondly, if the volume of the cortex, including both grey and white matter, increases to a critical level, then it may herniate across the tentorium into the space occupied normally by the brain stem (for a diagram see [13]). Similarly, if the total volume of the brain becomes too large, there may be herniation of parts of the hindbrain through the foramen magnum. Either form of herniation may be fatal. From 1966 to 1975 there were 100 admissions to the Mayo Clinic for infarction in the territory of the internal cerebral artery ending with the death of the patient. Of these, 31 died of herniation, 25 within 4 days of admission [14]. Similarly in a European study out of 55 patients with complete middle cerebral artery territory infarction herniation was the cause of death in 43 with 12 patients surviving [15].

1.1 Types of oedema

Oedemas can be classified according to their locations, e.g. peritumoral oedema, or their causes, e.g. ischaemic oedema, or most usefully for present purposes their mechanisms. Traditionally, four types of mechanism have been recognised: osmotic, cytotoxic, vasogenic and periventricular. To these should be added the oedema associated with hemorrhage and hematomas. As a result of the early release of biochemically active products into the tissue, this type of oedema is sufficiently different even in its early stages as to warrant a separate review. This has been provided recently by Wan et al. [16]).

Cerebral oedema in which fluid accumulates primarily intracellularly can be experimentally produced very rapidly (minutes) by reducing the osmolality of the blood perfusing the brain. Water then enters into the tissue, moving up the gradient of osmolality (i.e. down its own gradient of chemical potential) across the intact blood– brain barrier and the membranes of the parenchymal cells. This is called **osmotic oedema**.

The distinction between cytotoxic oedema and vasogenic oedema was introduced by Klatzo [17]. Cytotoxic oedema arises from excess accumulation of solutes within cells. Vasogenic oedema arises from break-down of the blood-brain barrier. There have been a number of suggestions for amendment to this terminology, e.g. that of Betz (see e.g. [7]) who offered the name 'intact-barrier' in place of 'cytotoxic' and 'open-barrier' instead of 'vasogenic' and more recently that of Simard et al.[18].¹ Despite this, Klatzo's terminology still shapes most discussion. The best example of cytotoxic oedema is the ischaemic oedema seen in stroke prior to gross disruption of the blood-brain barrier. The best clinical example of vasogenic oedema is peritumoral oedema where the vasculature supplying the tumour is modified and has properties similar to that supplying peripheral tissues. **Periventricu**lar oedema, which is observed in hydrocephalus and arises from changes in the structure of the parenchyma

- it maintains the connection between the meaning of "oedema" in discussions of mechanisms and the meaning of it in clinical practice where "oedema" implies macroscopic, i.e. tissue swelling;
- it avoids having different meanings for "oedema" when referring to the brain or to peripheral tissues;
- it avoids the incorrect implication that "ionic oedema" is a separate type of swelling that has been observed in the absence of "cytotoxic oedema" (new notation); and
- it avoids the implication that the osmotically active solutes added to the parenchyma have to be ions, making it easier to discuss the role of osmotically active metabolites.

¹ "Oedema" has implied *tissue* swelling for more than a century. With this definition, a simple redistribution of water between cells and ISF does not qualify as a type of oedema [7]. Simard and coworkers [18-21]) have proposed redefinition of the word oedema so that it no longer implies tissue swelling. In their notation, cell swelling, even when it occurs entirely at the expense of ISF, is cytotoxic oedema while what has traditionally been called cytotoxic oedema becomes a superposition of cytotoxic and ionic oedema. One possible motivation for this change is to allow different names for two different sets of molecular processes, one occurring in parenchymal cells, the other in the endothelial cells of the blood-brain barrier. It has been suggested that such a change in nomenclature allows increased precision and specificity in descriptions of the processes. However, anything that can be said using one notation could also be said using the other. "Cellular oedema' is just "cell swelling" from the traditional terminology while "ionic oedema" refers to "the concept of transcapillary water and electrolyte transport into brain parenchyma" [18]. Ionic oedema as a concept is not something that can be observed. It simply restates that cytotoxic cell swelling only becomes cytotoxic oedema (old nomenclature) when there is influx of material from outside. This review follows Klatzo and Betz in referring to "cell swelling" with "oedema" reserved for swelling of the tissue. Their nomenclature has a number of advantages:

In the usage adopted here "cellular oedema" means oedema (i.e. swelling of a tissue) in which most of the extra volume is located within the cells and "extracellular oedema" means oedema in which most of the extra volume is in the extracellular fluid (compare usage in [22]). The term "cell swelling" carries no implication for whether or not the tissue is swollen.

adjacent to the ventricles, is discussed in Sects. 8.2.1 and 8.2.2.3.1 of [1].

This review is concerned mainly with physiological mechanisms and so will discuss ischaemic oedema with emphasis primarily on events during the first nine to twelve hours immediately after the challenge that provoked the oedema. The review by Jiang et al. [23] covers events important in the longer term changes that take place over days. The long term responses to trauma and the oedema that it causes are considered in the literature of neuropathology, see e.g. [24].

1.2 Cytotoxic oedema

With cytotoxic oedema, the initiating event is a disturbance of metabolism in the cells of the brain parenchyma. Additional osmotically active solutes can be produced within the cells directly by altering metabolism and/or indirectly by reducing supply of ATP and thus impairing the ability to exclude ions. The resultant metabolic disturbances lead to cell swelling as water is drawn in from the surrounding ISF. This transfer of fluid does not in itself cause overall parenchymal swelling because the ISF volume decreases [6, 7]. However, ISF volume becomes partially restored (see further discussion in later sections) due to influx of solutes and water from outside the parenchyma either across the blood-brain barrier [6, 17], or from CSF presumably via perivascular spaces [25, 26] (for background see Sect. 5.6 in [3]). This allows further increase in cell volume and results in overall tissue swelling, i.e. cytotoxic oedema.

More generalised oedema in the whole brain can result following global ischaemia produced by cardiac arrest (see Sect. 3.5.3). In this situation, the resultant cessation of blood flow overall stops delivery of O_2 and glucose, and removal of CO_2 from tissues and, as described above, such metabolic disturbances will produce cell swelling at the expense of ISF volume. It is possible that there is some restoration of ISF volume from CSF. If or when blood flow is restored, then there is a source of fluid which can be added to ISF and from there into cells [27].

Global ischaemia leads to irreversible loss of vital neurological functions. This typically can occur in less than 10 min following cardiac arrest. Most neurons survive if blood flow is restored after substantially longer periods but loss of function possibly depends on selective neuronal loss under ischaemic conditions (see e.g. [28, 29]). Selective neuronal loss also occurs in focal ischaemia (see Sects. 4.1 and 5) but long-term functional recovery may occur because surviving portions of the brain can compensate.

1.3 Vasogenic oedema

With vasogenic oedema, the initiating event is a failure, opening or defect in the blood-brain barrier. This will allow solutes, importantly NaCl and plasma proteins, and water to enter the brain parenchyma. The gradients driving entry may be hydrostatic pressure or the resultant of hydrostatic and colloid osmotic pressure depending on the size selectivity of the barrier opening. This results in tissue swelling.

1.4 Other types of swelling

Some forms of tissue swelling are customarily excluded from being called oedema. One important example is brain tissue swelling resulting from vascular engorgement. At least according to Marmarou et al. [30] this latter type of swelling is not regarded as brain oedema. Increase in brain volume resulting from tumour growth is also not of itself oedema, but it is often accompanied by oedema of the surrounding brain tissues.

2 Cytotoxic oedema associated with ischaemic stroke. Onset

In ischaemic stroke, blockage of arteries or arterioles decreases the blood flow and thus the supply of O_2 and glucose to a region of the parenchyma. The decrease can be severe but is normally not total, because there is some supply of blood via collaterals. It is conventional to think of an affected region as divided into a **core** in which neurons and other cells are irreversibly damaged and a **penumbra** in which the cells are still viable. Immediately after the reduction in blood flow the core includes areas of grey matter in which the flow is reduced from a normal value > ~50 mL min⁻¹ / (100 g) [31, 32] to < ~10 mL min⁻¹ / (100 g) [32–39]. In practice these cells cannot be rescued and will become part of the infarct because attempts at reperfusion cannot be made quickly enough, (see e.g. [29, 40, 41]).

A timeline of changes occurring in the core is shown in Fig. 1.

The surrounding penumbra is functionally defined as the region in which neurons are electrically silent² but still have a nearly normal membrane potential [42]. Blood flow in this region is typically greater than 12 mL min⁻¹ / (100 g) but less than 18 mL min⁻¹/(100 g) ([32, 36, 37, 39]). The core expands over time (see Fig. 1) at the expense of the penumbra, but this process is slow enough that cells in the penumbra can be rescued by timely

² Blood-flow in the penumbra is greater than that in the core and, at least initially there is not the depolarization seen in the core but nevertheless electrical activity is absent. A number of factors may contribute to this loss of activity with a likely cause being suppression of release of excitatory transmitters, prominently glutamate, which in turn may be related to changes in ATP and Ca²⁺ levels in presynaptic terminals [29, 33, 37, 43].



Fig. 1 Timeline of changes in the core in the first 12 h of cortical ischaemic oedema. In less than 5 min of ischaemia, intracellular ATP concentrations in the core fall, Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ pumps fail, neurons become depolarized and release K⁺ which is is transferred from neurons to astrocytes. After 5 min (as shown in orange) it becomes evident that: there are spreading depolarizations that extend into the penumbra; ion gradients collapse; both neurons and astrocytes swell at the expense of ISF volume. The combined volume occupied by ISF and cells increases initially as CSF enters enlarged perivascular spaces and subsequently as NaCl and water enter the parenchyma across the blood–brain barrier. The rate of swelling is sustained by changes in blood–brain barrier properties (as shown in green). These include opening of SUR1-TRPM4 channels allowing Na⁺ to pass through endothelial cells and into astrocyte endfeet (see Sects. 3.5.2 and 4.2). There are also conformational changes in the tight junctions between endothelial cells increasing paracellular permeability of the endothelial cell layer (see Sect. 4.2.2). At first this allows small molecules to pass through and eventually large molecules and cells to enter as well. Gross failure of the blood–brain barrier occurs within a day. At longer times than shown there is generalised disintegration both of extracellular matrix and of all cell types in the core

reperfusion. The pre-rescue perfusion level threshold required to allow rescue to be possible increases with the delay before reperfusion [36].

3 Initial events in the development of ischaemic oedema

The processes involved in the onset of oedema in the core and its initial spread into the penumbra can be summarized as follows:

- Depolarization of neurons in the core, and neural uptake of Na⁺ and Cl⁻, loss of K⁺ and neuronal swelling (Sect. 3.1). In the core, neurons quickly exhaust their supply of O_2 and glucose and thus much of their ability to produce the ATP needed to maintain ion gradients and hence membrane potential. They depolarize, take up Na⁺, release somewhat less K⁺, take up Cl⁻ preserving electroneutrality, and swell.
- Propagation of spreading depolarizations into the penumbra and beyond (Sect. 3.2). Depolarization of neuronal membranes and greatly increased [K⁺]_{isf} in the core trigger spreading depolarizations that propagate into the penumbra and surrounding parenchyma and lead to expansion of the core.
- Uptake of Na⁺, K⁺ and anions and swelling of astrocytes in the core (Sect. 3.3). Astrocytes respond to the ischaemia by taking up K⁺, Na⁺, HCO₃⁻, and Cl⁻ and swelling.
- Reduction in ISF volume by cellular uptake of fluid (Sects. 3.4). Swelling of neurons and astrocytes occurs by influx of solutes and water from ISF thus reducing ISF volume.
- Increase in solute content of the parenchyma and development of oedema (Sect. 3.5). There is influx of solutes from both CSF (Sect. 3.5.1) and blood (Sect. 3.5.2) and production of additional solutes within the parenchyma (Sect. 3.5.3). This increase in

parenchymal solute content leads to influx of water and consequential increase in total tissue volume, i.e. oedema develops. Most of the solutes and water from plasma and from CSF that enter ISF continue into the parenchymal cells.

 Presence of AQP4 in astrocyte endfeet allowing water that crosses the blood-brain barrier to enter directly into the endfeet (Sect. 3.6).

Detailed analyses of the processes listed above are described in Sects. 3.1 to 3.6.

3.1 Depolarization of neurons in the core and the immediate consequences

At the onset of ischaemia, within the core there is increased reliance on glycolysis to provide ATP.³ This anaerobic metabolism reduces pH and increases [lactate⁻] (see appendix B). However, despite glycolysis, the ATP production is insufficient to meet the demands of active pumping of Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ leading to changes in ionic concentrations, membrane potential and cell volume as indicated in Fig. 2.

 K^+ efflux is initially via the K^+ channels normally open at the resting potential while Cl^- entry is at least partly via cotransporters (see [44–46]. The increase in $[Na^+]_{neuron}$ and decrease in $[Na^+]_{isf}$ reverse the direction of ion movement by Na⁺-glutamate uptake-transporters leading to glutamate release and increase in [glutamate⁻]_{isf} [47] (see Fig. 2). The increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_{neuron}$ may also stimulate further release of glutamate⁻ from vesicles.

The influxes of Na⁺ and Cl⁻ into neurons during ischaemia are accompanied by cell swelling indicative of entry of water [48] (for graphic examples of swelling see supplementary files in [45]). The extent of swelling and the routes by which the water enters have been the subject of some controversy. The water permeability of neurons when measured in brain slices appears to be very low which led Andrew et al. [49] to propose that the depolarization resulting from ischaemia opens channels that are water permeable. Alternatively, it has been proposed that the water enters by co-transport with inorganic ions, e.g. via transporters like KCC2 and NKCC1, and co-transport with lactate⁻, e.g. via MCT2 [44].

Further aspects of the events involved in the depolarization and swelling of neurons are discussed in appendix C.



Fig. 2 Flow diagram of the ionic changes occurring in neurons at the onset of ischaemia. ATP concentrations fall, active efflux of Na⁺ by the Na⁺-pump is reduced, and Na⁺ influx exceeds its efflux. Hence [Na⁺]_{neuron} increases and [Na⁺]_{isf} decreases and this increase in positively-charged Na⁺ inside the neuron leads to depolarization. This results in K⁺ efflux and Cl⁻ entry with further Na⁺ influx balancing these ion movements to preserve electroneutrality. Other effects of depolarization are increases in permeability (i.e. opening more voltage-sensitive channels) to Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ leading to further increases in [Na⁺]_{neuron} and [Ca²⁺]_{neuron}, further depolarization and release of glutamate⁻. Increased [glutamate⁻]_{isf} leads to further increase in the permeability to Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ via glutamate-activated channels. The accompanying decrease in [Na⁺]_{isf} and increase in [K⁺]_{isf} can be by as much as 80 mM (to roughly half of normal) and 40-60 mM (more than ten times normal) respectively. The gain of Nat and Cl⁻ exceeds the loss of K⁺ and the neurons swell at the expense of ISF

3.2 Spreading depolarizations in the penumbra and beyond

The depolarization of neurons and increased $[K^+]_{isf}$ in the core (see Sect. 3.1) serve as the origin for spreading depolarizations into surrounding regions of the parenchyma⁴ [51–56]. Diffusion of K⁺ from the area of raised $[K^+]_{isf}$ increases the local concentration of K⁺ in neighbouring regions which

³ Siesjö et al. [50] draws attention to the importance of the ATP/ADP ratio rather than the ATP concentration itself as the factor driving activity in the cell, which includes that of the Na⁺-pumps. The ratio can fall to low levels even though the ATP concentration remains a substantial fraction of the normal value. Reference to the consequences of low ATP levels in this review should more properly be to the consequences of low ATP/ADP ratios.

⁴ Spreading depolarization is now the preferred name for Leão's spreading depression [71] because the wave of depolarization can be seen to propagate through regions of tissue in which nervous activity is already depressed. The depolarization does suppress activity but it is not necessary for there to be activity that can be suppressed for the depolarization to propagate. Some authors, see e.g. [56], refer to both the initial depolarization in the core and the disturbance that propagates as spreading depolarization.



Fig. 3 Figure depicting events involved in spreading depolarization. **i** The depolarization of neurons is initiated by diffusion of K^+ from adjacent already depolarized tissue. This increase in $[K^+]_{isf}$ leads to influx of K^+ and to depolarization. **ii** Depolarization then triggers opening of Na⁺ channels and influx of Na⁺ which amplifies the depolarization leading to release of K⁺ which further increases $[K^+]_{isf}$. Diffusion of K⁺ to adjacent cells propagates the wave of depolarization. **iii** The energy required by neurons to recover from the gain of Na⁺ and loss of K⁺ far exceeds that required for recovery from normal neural activity

drives K^+ entry via the K^+ channels already open at rest. This entry is sufficient to initiate depolarization of neurons (see Fig. 3) and in turn to provoke Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ entry leading to much greater depolarization (to~0 mV) and release of K^+ . These changes propagate through the tissue albeit much more slowly than action potentials [43, 57–60].

Although cells in the core region remain depolarized, those in the adjacent penumbral region can repolarize and be subject to further waves of depolarization.⁵ However, repolarization places a heavy burden on ATP consumption and eventually the cells remain depolarized and become part of the permanently damaged core region [48, 53, 60–62]). The metabolic demands imposed by spreading depolarizations are likely to be more important than reduced blood flow in decreasing

ATP levels in the penumbra and thus in the expansion of the core [48].

3.3 Uptake of Na⁺, K⁺ and anions by astrocytes and their resultant swelling in the core.

The uptake of K^+ by astrocytes serves to buffer $[K^+]_{isf}$ i.e. it blunts the increase in $[K^+]_{isf}$ when K^+ is released from neurons. Under normal circumstances this is beneficial as it stabilizes the resting potential of neurons, but in the context of ischaemia it serves to delay elimination of K^+ from the damaged region [63]. The ion transporters involved in the initial responses of both neurons and astrocytes are indicated schematically in Fig. 4. These changes have been described at length by Somjen and his work should be consulted for further background and an introduction to quantitative simulations of the events [43, 64].

Astrocytes have a high resting K^+ conductance due to the presence of multiple types of channel including prominently Kir4.1 [65–68] (see Fig. 4 and appendix C). As a consequence, the increase in $[K^+]_{isf}$ will lead to entry of K^+ and astrocyte membrane depolarization [43, 69, 70]. Further depolarization results if the rate of Na⁺-pumping is reduced as a consequence of reduced ATP.⁶

⁵ The depolarization at any location is ended if and when the transporters and channels mediating the inward Na⁺ currents inactivate or desensitize sufficiently to allow the Na⁺-pump to extrude Na⁺ restoring the concentration gradients and potential (see Fig. 3). In the core this is not possible because ATP levels are too low, but in the surrounding well perfused tissue and initially in the penumbra, the depolarization can be reversed. In healthy tissue, blood flow is increased, partially via vasodilatation linked to production of NO, and sufficient [glucose] and pO₂ are achieved in the cells to regenerate ATP to original levels. However, in the penumbra where blood flow is already compromised, there is instead a vasoconstriction linked to the increase in [K⁺]_{isf} which further reduces supply of O₂ and glucose and slows the recovery [38, 48, 72–79]. (For extensive discussion of the vascular responses see [60]). It is thought that each depolarization leads to an expansion of the size of the core at the expense of the penumbra [80, 81] possibly via decreases in [glucose] and increases in [lactate⁻] [82].

 $^{^6}$ If instead ATP levels remain adequate, Na⁺ transported inwards by NBCe1 (see Fig. 7) is transported back out in partial exchange for K⁺ by the Na⁺-pump, which is stimulated by the increase in [K⁺]_{isf} (see discussion

Only a small amount of K⁺ entry will produce depolarization sufficient to stop further net K⁺ entry unless the K⁺ entry can be accompanied by anions (or efflux of H^+).⁷ To account for significant accumulation of K^+ in the astrocytes, several routes for anion entry have been proposed. One is an anion channel [83]. However, resting astrocytes are reported not to have such a channel [84, 85] (but see [69, 86]). It is possible in ischaemic conditions Cl⁻ channels are opened in response to depolarization or to increased [Ca²⁺]_{astrocyte} (for further discussion of anion channels see [85, 87-89]). Another suggestion for an anion entry route is the Na⁺, K⁺, 2Cl⁻ cotransporter NKCC1 [90] but, on current evidence, this transporter is not expressed in mature astrocytes (see appendix C). It is now thought more likely that the anion that enters during ischaemia is HCO₃⁻ [91-93] mediated by the electrogenic Na⁺, 2 HCO₃⁻ transporter NBCe1 [83, 94–96] (see Fig. 4).

The net entry of K^+ , Na⁺, HCO₃⁻, and Cl⁻ described above is accompanied by water and the astrocytes swell [97]. Some of the water entry is directly coupled to transport mediated by NBCe1 [95, 96, 98] and some is likely to move from endothelial cells into astrocyte endfeet via their basement membranes and AQP4 in the bloodvessel-facing membranes of the endfeet (see Sect. 3.6). Further consideration of the responses of astrocytes to ischaemia is given in appendix C.

3.4 Changes in ISF and development of oedema

The processes described in Sects. 3.1 & 3.3 account for parenchymal cell swelling due to uptake of fluid from the adjacent ISF. However, these processes alone would not produce an overall parenchymal tissue swelling because they also produce an initially matching decrease in ISF volume, a decrease which has been observed experimentally using a number of techniques.⁸ This ISF volume



Fig. 4 Changes in ion transport between neurons, astrocytes, ISF, CSF and plasma following depletion of ATP in the core. a In the neurons, because ATP is depleted, the Na⁺,K⁺- ATPase (the Na⁺- pump) can no longer produce outward movement of Na⁺ to balance its inward movement via channels and other transporters. The net entry of positively charged Na⁺ depolarizes the cell membrane. This depolarization opens further routes for Na⁺ entry and also leads to K⁺ exit via K⁺ channels and to Cl⁻ entry via unspecified channels or cotransporters. The gain of Na⁺ exceeds the loss of K⁺, the net accumulation of cations and Cl⁻ draws in water from ISF and thus the neurons swell. **b** In ISF, as a result of neuronal Na⁺ uptake and K⁺ release, [Na⁺]_{isf} decreases to as low as 60–70 mM whilst [K⁺]_{isf} increases to as much as 40–60 mM. c Astrocytes respond to the increase in $[K^+]_{isf}$ by taking up K^+ via K^+ channels so depolarizing their membranes. Na⁺ and HCO₃⁻ enter via the NBCe1 cotransporter and the associated entry of net negative charge allows further entry of K⁺. Some of the HCO₃⁻ may exchange with Cl⁻. The astrocytes swell by taking up water from ISF or from perivascular spaces via their AQP4-containing endfeet membranes (see Sect. 3.6 and appendix E for further discussion). The events in **a**, **b** and **c** occur within a few minutes of the onset of ischaemia. d) Also starting immediately but progressing over hours is net entry of Na⁺ (red) and Cl⁻ (green) into the parenchyma from outside, i.e. from CSF and/ or plasma. There is also net loss of K⁺ (blue) from the parenchyma to CSF and/or plasma. These ion movements, maintaining electroneutrality, result in a gain of parenchymal solute content, entry of water and thus formation of oedema

decrease is maintained for days in ischaemia. However, the total tissue volume progressively increases on account of the cells continuing to swell, i.e. there is oedema. This is due to an increase in the total amount of solutes and water in cells and in ISF combined. The solutes derive both from entry of ions from outside the tissue and from

Footnote 8 (continued)

Footnote 6 (continued)

in [96]). Because the pump carries net positive charge outwards it will also tend to repolarize the astrocyte allowing more K^+ entry via the conductance pathway.

⁷ When K⁺ enters astrocytes in the context of localized neuronal activity it can be removed by current flow through the astrocyte and K⁺ efflux at distal sites, a process called spatial buffering. This process is an alternative to entry of anions. However, spatial buffering cannot account for the extensive uptake and retention of K⁺ when entry occurs over an extended region as in ischaemia [96, 99, 100].

⁸ Decreased ISF volume can been seen in experiments recording: a marked increase in the impedence of the tissue [43, 101, 102]; an increase in concentration of an extracellular marker [103]; reduced space available for the diffusion of an extracellular marker [104–107]; and, using diffusion weighted MRI imaging, a decrease in the apparent diffusion constant (ADC) of water. The ADC decreases as water moves from ISF where the diffusion constant is relatively large to the cells where the diffusion constant is relatively small [73, 106, 108–110]. ADC measurements have the advantages that they are non-invasive and can be repeated at intervals. The ADC can

remain reduced for days as the oedema develops [111]. The fluid removed from the extracellular space is taken up by neurons and astrocytes (see Sects. 3.1 and 3.3 respectively).

metabolic production of osmolytes within the tissue as discussed in Sects. 3.5.1 to 3.5.3.⁹

It is possible and convenient to describe separately the processes involved in the transfer of osmoles from ISF to parenchymal cells and those involved in transfers from CSF and plasma to ISF. This stems from the separate locations of the two sets of processes. However, it should be emphasized that these processes are inextricably linked by variations in ISF composition and are not separated in time. Both sets of processes function at the same time to produce the observable cytotoxic oedema [6].

Oedema formation of the order of 0.8 mL g⁻¹ (increase in tissue volume per unit dry weight) has been observed within the first 3 to 4 h in experimental studies using middle cerebral artery occlusion (MCAO) (see Fig. 5 for an indication of the volume changes and appendix D for a compilation of the available data). The increases in total osmolality measured in the parenchyma ([102, 112–114], appendix D) are sufficient to drive the observed water gain (see appendix B in [1]).

3.5 Sources of solutes added to the parenchyma during development of oedema

There are three possible sources of solutes added to the parenchyma during oedema: CSF (Sect. 3.5.1); blood (Sect. 3.5.2); and metabolic production within the tissue (Sect. 3.5.3).

3.5.1 Influx of solutes via CSF

Solutes, primarily NaCl, can enter the parenchyma from CSF either by diffusion across the surfaces of the parenchyma or, as proposed by Thrane et al. [25, 115] and Mestre et al. [26], by diffusion and convection in perivascular spaces. Experimental evidence for CSF inflow during ischaemia comes from studies of the very early changes in solute influx and water content following MCAO [26],^{10,11}



4

6

5

4

3

2

1

0

volume / ml g⁻¹



0

Mestre et al. showed (see Fig. 6):

- in the first 15 min there was an increase in parenchymal water content from 3.7 to 3.9 mL g⁻¹ (dry weight);
- over 5-7 min there was increased entry of both a fluorescent marker and an MRI marker, gadobutrol, both injected 15 min earlier into CSF in the cisterna magna; and
- over a similar period there was an increase in influx of Na⁺ and of mannitol radiotracers injected into CSF.

The main increase in influx of markers, starting at about t=5 min (see Fig. 6a) occurred about 30 s after the appearance of a spreading depolarization [26] (see Sect. 3.2). Mestre et al. proposed that the spreading depolarization produced a strong vasoconstriction that *increased* the volume of the periarterial spaces allowing inflow of CSF. Such an inflow would produce a

⁹ It should be noted that even though the volume increase requires that fluid enters either from CSF or from the blood this is not vasogenic oedema. Vasogenic oedema results from a malfunction or breakdown of the blood-brain barrier whereas here the ion entry occurs via the normal physiological mechanisms responding to the altered ISF concentrations of Na⁺, K⁺ and Cl⁻ and the production of osmotically active metabolites within the parenchymal cells.

¹⁰ Mestre et al. [26] have investigated the very early responses after MCAO produced in mice by embolism with macrospheres. This technique has the advantage of allowing obstruction of the circulation in the region supplied by the middle cerebral artery at an accurately known time after injection of CSF markers and radiotracers into the cisterna magna. It should also be noted that it may produce less disturbance of perivascular transport than other techniques (see [2]).

¹¹ Using measurements of the movement of the brain surface in cats, Hossmann [114] had previously observed swelling within a few minutes of MCAO. However, presumably because it was so rapid, he proposed that the swelling was a consequence of "autoregulatory dilation of the vascular bed (hypoperfusion hyperemia)", i.e. that it was not oedema. However, he did not measure the blood volume and indeed none of the evidence he presented contradicts the alternative idea that the swelling was due to an influx of CSF.

progressive increase in solute and water content of the parenchyma and this might account for the developing oedema. However, their results demonstrated only entry of Na⁺ from CSF in the earliest stages of ischaemic oedema reaching completion within 15 min (see Fig. 6). As noted by Mestre et al. elsewhere [116], the increase in water content and thus the intake of CSF, may be analogous to the CSF intake into the parenchyma that has been observed post-mortem [117, 118]. Such an intake does not represent a sustained increase in perivascular flow [2].

There are a number of observations which suggest that, with the exception of an initial transient as observed by Mestre et al. and just described above, perivascular transport is reduced, not increased, following ischaemia as listed below:

- Normal or increased perivascular transport would be expected to lead to much faster resolution of oedema fluid than is observed (see Sect. 7).
- Entry of DOTA-Gd into the parenchyma following cisternal injection is reduced after three hours of ischaemia implying reduced rather than increased influx via perivascular routes [119].
- The spreading depolarizations seen in another condition (migraine aura) are associated with decreased rather than increased perivascular transport [120].
- Once there is substantial astrocytic swelling, it is reasonable to expect that the swollen endfeet would reduce the size of the perivascular spaces [120, 121].

Further data are required to establish the extent and importance of CSF entry from subarachnoid spaces via perivascular routes in the subsequent development of oedema. In the following sections, it is assumed that most of the fluid that enters the parenchyma after the initial transient period does so via the blood-brain barrier.

3.5.2 Fluxes of solutes across the blood-brain barrier

Blood is another source of the NaCl that accumulates in oedema fluid. Unlike O_2 and glucose, uptake of Na⁺ across the blood–brain barrier is slow and not blood-flow limited. Indeed, the rate of Na⁺ uptake required to account for



Fig. 6 Time courses of intakes of a fluorescent CSF marker a) and of water b) into a brain region following MCAO. **a** Changes in fluorescence from the marker added to CSF in the cisterna magna at t = -15 min, shown for regions on the ipsilateral (solid) and contralateral (dashed) sides. F_0 is the fluorescence at t = 0. **b** Water content of the ipsilateral (solid) and contralateral (dashed) regions shown as mL of water per gram dry weight of tissue. Note that the intake of the fluorescent marker in **a** and of water in **b** appear to be complete within a few minutes. Furthermore, the increase in water content, about 0.2 mL g⁻¹ over 15 min, is substantially less than the increases over 3 to 4 h measured by others in different species (see appendix D and Fig. 5). Redrawn and simplified from data in Fig. 1 of Mestre et al. [26]

development of oedema can be provided by even a severely compromised blood-flow, less than 1% of normal.¹² Furthermore more than adequate uptake of NaCl from blood has been observed using radiotracers in MCAO in rats [122, 123].

Influx of Na⁺ and efflux of K^+ across the blood-brain barrier are both favoured by the initial changes in ISF composition that take place following ischaemia (see Fig. 4). These changes affect both passive fluxes and active transport of these ions.

3.5.2.1 Effects on passive fluxes

Na⁺fluxes.

Under "normal" conditions, the passive fluxes of Na⁺ in both directions across the blood–brain barrier are much greater than the net flux. Initially, the likely mechanism for these passive fluxes is electrodiffusion via the paracellular spaces, see [124] and Sects. 4.3.4 and 4.3.5 in [4]. The decrease in $[Na^+]_{isf}$ in ischaemia is expected to reduce substantially passive efflux of Na⁺ from ISF to blood while leaving the passive influx from blood to ISF intact (compare [63, 125]). Thus, in ischaemia there will

¹² For a normal blood flow per gram wet weight of tissue, 540 μ L g⁻¹ min⁻¹ [126], a ratio of wet to dry weight of 5, and a restriction of blood flow to 1% of its normal value, the flow per gram dry weight is still 1.6 mL g⁻¹ h⁻¹ which can be compared with rates of fluid gain in ischaemic tissues of ~0.2 mL g⁻¹ h⁻¹ (see Table 1). Thus over most of the volume of parenchyma affected by ischaemia, including much of the core, transfer of fluid from blood to brain will be far less than the rate at which fluid is delivered by the residual blood flow.

be a substantial net flux from blood to ISF which over four hours can amount to 120 μ mol g⁻¹.¹³ This represents a substantial fraction of the total uptake of Na⁺ into the parenchyma that has been observed following MCAO.

K⁺ fluxes.

Under "normal conditions", the passive fluxes of K^+ are expected to be much smaller than those of Na⁺ simply because the K^+ concentrations in ISF and blood plasma are much smaller than those of Na⁺. In ischaemia, the more than tenfold increase in $[K^+]_{isf}$ derived from depolarized cells may lead to a substantial passive efflux of K^+ from brain to blood.

3.5.2.2 Effects on active transport Na⁺-pump activity and transcellular transport of Na⁺. The Na⁺-pump on the abluminal side of the endothelial cells of the blood-brain barrier (see Fig. 7) may still function during focal ischaemia. Unlike the neurons and astrocytes, these endothelial cells are still exposed directly to O₂ and glucose in the residual blood flow (compare [127]) and so can remain viable even in the face of extensive necrosis within the adjacent parenchyma (see Sect. 5). Their mitochondria thus still produce enough ATP to support active transport of Na⁺ by the Na⁺-pumps (see Fig. 8). Such continued activity of the pump encouraging Na⁺ entry into the parenchyma can be inferred from the results of Shigeno et al. [128] who found that ouabain, a pump inhibitor, was able to reduce oedema formation over 4 h presumably by preventing the Na⁺entry. Furthermore, as demonstrated by Schielke et al. [129] there is an increase in Na⁺ tracer influx during ischaemia. This would be expected if the Na⁺ pumps in the endothelium were still viable and were able to be stimulated by the raised $[K^+]_{isf}$ [127, 130–136].

The stimulated Na⁺-pump activity leading to reduction in [Na⁺] inside the endothelial cells will increase the gradient for Na⁺ entry from blood to cells (see Fig. 8b). Such entry [137] is likely to be via Na⁺, K⁺, 2Cl⁻ cotransport [138] (but see [139]) and Na⁺/H⁺ exchange [140–142]. There may also be some contribution from Na⁺, HCO₃⁻ cotransport [140, 142, 143].



Fig. 7 Suggested routes for Na⁺ and K⁺ transport across the endothelial cells of the blood–brain barrier in the early stages of ischaemic oedema. Passive fluxes of Na⁺, K⁺ and Cl⁻ probably occur via paracellular routes involving electrodiffusion that accounts for the endothelial conductance. Active transport through the cells is driven by the Na⁺-pump, a Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase: the increase in [K⁺]_{1sf} stimulates this pump leading to Na⁺ flux from the endothelial cells into ISF and K⁺ flux from ISF into the cells. The resulting decrease in [Na⁺]_{cell} drives inward fluxes of Na⁺, K⁺ and Cl⁻ from blood into the cells via NKCC1. The net effect is transport of Na⁺ and Cl⁻ from blood to ISF and of K⁺ from ISF to blood. Many more transporters in addition to those shown are involved, prominently NHE1/2 as mentioned in the text, but the overall effect is as shown. There may be some recycling of K⁺ as indicated by the dotted line

Entry of Na⁺ from blood replenishes the Na⁺ in the endothelial cells allowing further active transport into ISF by the Na⁺-pumps.

The importance of ion transport through the endothelial cells at the blood-brain barrier in the early development of oedema is supported by evidence from experiments using inhibitors of transporters known to be involved in Na⁺ and/or K⁺ fluxes into and out of the endothelial cells [137, 146]: These results show that formation of oedema over several hours after MCAO can be substantially reduced by:

- ouabain, an inhibitor of the Na⁺-pump [128];
- bumetanide, an inhibitor of NKCC1 [138];
- cariporide (HOE-647), an inhibitor of NHEs [147]; and
- TRAM-34, an inhibitor of KCa3.1 channels [148].

Furthermore, NKCC1 knock-out mice exhibited considerably less oedema and infarction than wildtype mice [149]. All of these results are as expected if a substantial proportion of the NaCl entry in the initial phase of tissue

 $^{^{\}overline{13}}$ The size of the effect of decreasing $[\mathrm{Na^+}]_{\mathrm{isf}}$ on passive Na⁺ net flux can be estimated from the measured permeability surface area product, *PS*, for Na⁺, approximately 0.074 μ L g⁻¹ h⁻¹ [144, 145] where the surface area has been calculated per gram wet weight of tissue. This becomes 0.37 μ L g⁻¹ h⁻¹ when referred to dry weight. For an 80 mM decrease in [Na⁺]_{isf} [43] and thus for a difference in concentration of this size across the blood–brain barrier, the prediction is a reduction in efflux from ISF and increase in net flux into ISF of 30 μ mol g⁻¹ h⁻¹.



Fig. 8 Diagram comparing movements of Na⁺, K⁺ and Cl⁻ into and out of parenchymal and endothelial cells before (left) and during (right) the initial phase of ischaemic swelling. Negatively charged impermeant solutes, Im⁻, in the parenchyma and in the endothelial cells provide part of the driving force for development of ischaemic oedema. $\Delta V_{m'}$ is the cell membrane potential inside relative to 0 in plasma. **a** Before ischaemia, Na⁺ is effectively excluded from the cells in the parenchyma by their Na⁺- pumps. K⁺ is attracted into the cells and Cl⁻ repelled from them by the negative membrane potential, an example of the Donnan effect (see appendix E). The volumes of the cells and ISF are stable as are the ion concentrations, with the concentrations of Na⁺, K⁺ and Cl⁻ in ISF close to those in plasma. There may be a small net flux of solutes and water from plasma into ISF matched by a net flux out of the tissue into CSF primarily via perivascular routes (see [4]). **b** During the initial stages of ischaemia: the Na⁺-pumps are no longer able to exclude Na⁺ from the cells in the parenchyma but are still functional in the endothelial cells (see Sect. 3.5.2.2); Na⁺ and Cl⁻ enter parenchymal cells; K⁺ initially redistributes from neurons to astrocytes but eventually leaves both cell types; the cell membranes depolarize to small negative potentials; and the cells swell and ISF shrinks as described in Sect. 3.6. On a time scale of minutes to hours Na⁺ and Cl⁻ enter ISF across the blood–brain barrier at a rate that depends on the permeability of the barrier to these ions. Water follows down the resultant of the total osmotic and hydrostatic pressure gradients. The gradient for solute entry from the plasma persists because [Na⁺]_{isf} and [Cl⁻]_{isf} are kept somewhat less than the concentrations in plasma by continued entry of Na⁺ and Cl⁻ into the parenchymal cells. Development of oedema in the medium term, times from ~3 h to possibly 12 h (or more) is considered in Sects. 4

swelling occurs as a result of active transport across the endothelial cells. $^{\rm 14}$

Transcellular transport of K^+ Stimulation of the Na⁺-pumps by the increase in $[K^+]_{isf}$ will also affect K^+ movements, in this case increasing K^+ entry from ISF into the endothelial cells [127, 130–136] (see Sects. 6.3.4 and 6.6.4 in [4]). That raises their $[K^+]$ leading to increased K^+ efflux into blood, possibly via ion channels [150–153](see Sect. 4.5.3 in [4]). This could plausibly account for the observed clearance of K^+ from the parenchymal tissue across the blood–brain barrier under ischaemic conditions. K^+ exit from the parenchyma partially offsets the increase in osmoles resulting from Na⁺ entry (see appendix D).

3.5.3 Production of osmotically active solutes within the parenchyma

The net influx of ions described above is not sufficient to maintain, let alone increase, the parenchymal osmolality during ischaemia. There must be extra osmoles derived from metabolism within the parenchyma.

Evidence for extra metabolites can be seen in MCAO experiments (see Fig. 5 and appendix D) but is more obvious in experiments on global ischaemia, i.e. where there is no blood-flow and hence neither a source of extra solutes from outside the parenchymal tissue nor washout of the extra metabolites. In these experiments it was found that the osmolality increased from 308 to 353 mOsmolal during 1 h of total ischaemia but there was little or no oedema [154]. When circulation was restored, so providing a source of water and further solutes, there was rapid brain swelling presumably driven by the already increased osmolality. Hossmann & Takagi [154] noted that the 45 mOsm increase substantially exceeded the ~ 20 mOsm expected from glycolysis and decomposition of labile compounds (see e.g. [155]) and concluded that there must be a release of osmoles from other brain

¹⁴ The interpretation of the inhibitor results is not entirely straight-forward because these inhibitors can also act on cells within the parenchyma ([156–158] and for discussion [142, 147, 159]). However, ouabain and, as pointed out by O'Donnell [146] bumetanide do not cross the blood–brain barrier into the brain (see [160, 161] and Footnote 5 in [142]) and therefore when applied to the blood-side of the barrier their effects on production of oedema must be via actions on transporters on brain endothelial cells.

constituents, e.g. by the catabolic break-down of proteins and lipids.

During focal ischaemia such as is produced by MCAO, the increase in osmolality due to extra solutes in the parenchyma (see column 7 of Table 1) is smaller than that seen in global ischaemia. This is partly because the solutes can be washed away in the residual blood flow and partly because they are diluted by influx of water.

In the initial stages of ischaemic oedema, the most obvious source of extra metabolites is the generation of lactic acid from glucose and glycogen. Some of that produced within the parenchymal cells is exported to ISF via monocarboxylic acid transporters (MCT). Both in cells and ISF, H⁺ will be buffered and thus not adding osmoles, but lactate⁻ will remain free and be osmotically active. The extra osmoles produced can amount to 15 μ mol g⁻¹ (per gram of wet tissue) or even $30-40 \text{ }\mu\text{mol g}^{-1}$ with hyperglycaemia [155]. Hossmann [114] concluded that metabolically produced osmoles account for a substantial part of the increase in osmolality in the first hour or two following onset of ischaemia. Thereafter the increase in oedema is accounted for by a change in the amounts of Na⁺, Cl⁻ and K⁺. That in turn suggests that the metabolites are subsequently being washed away at a rate that balances their production but little is known about their rate of production during the medium and long term.

3.6 Role of AQP4 in astrocyte endfeet

Deletion of AQP4 has profound effects on fluid movements in the brain. It has been shown to decrease the rate of net fluid transfer into the parenchyma during either water intoxication [162, 163] or the development of ischaemic oedema [162]. Furthermore, it has also been shown to decrease the rate of net fluid removal after either infusion of mock ISF or osmotherapy [164] and also decrease the rate of spread of fluid out of regions damaged by cold injury [165]. These effects are clear but because of the nature of the experiments, the actual flow rates via the AQP4-dependent routes could not be measured.

At the blood-brain barrier AQP4 is localized to the astrocyte endfoot membrane facing towards the vasculature. Thus, it is thought that a substantial portion of the water crossing the perivascular space to or from the blood can enter or leave via astrocyte endfeet.

AQP4 has also been linked to the effects of adrenergic receptor blockade on the development of oedema [166] and to the restoration of low $[K^+]_{ISF}$ after either cortical spreading depression or light-activated thrombosis [166, 167]. It has been proposed that both of these effects result from changes in AQP4 that modulate movements of fluid and K^+ via glymphatics. While it is clear that AQP4 knock-out affects entry of solutes and presumably fluid via

glymphatics [168, 169] it is not clear that this is via a direct effect on the water permeability of astrocyte endfeet ([170, 171]. For further discussion and references see [2].

It is interesting to note that there are marked changes in localization of AQP4 to endfeet in various stages of ischaemic oedema. Indeed it has been suggested this relocalization might be a useful target for therapy aimed at reducing the extent of oedema and of functional damage in ischaemic stroke and spinal cord injury [172, 173].

4 The medium term: changes in the blood-brain barrier enhancing oedema formation

Events in the early stages have been considered in Sect. 3 above. These include discussion of the origins of the extra solutes and water in the parenchyma and the role of spreading depolarizations on expansion of the ischaemic core and oedema.

Starting 3 to 4 h after the onset of ischaemia oedema (see Fig. 9), changes in blood-brain barrier properties maintain the rate of oedema formation. The most important of these changes is increased permeability to NaCl. The medium term is here taken to start three to six hours and to finish perhaps nine to twelve hours after onset of ischaemia (see Fig. 1) though, as the approximate boundaries suggest, this is an arbitrary delineation since there is a continuum of changes in the processes occurring with the relative importance of different aspects shifting with time.

During the medium term, leakage of albumin into the parenchyma becomes apparent, clearly indicating that the permeability of the blood-brain barrier has changed.¹⁵ However, the leak is small and the albumin concentration in ISF remains substantially below that in plasma [174]. Furthermore, because movement of water across the blood-brain barrier is still governed by total osmotic pressure rather than colloid osmotic pressure, the critical barrier changes are to NaCl rather than to albumin. Hence as emphasized by Gotoh et al. [175] and Menzies et al. [176], the presence of albumin in the parenchyma does not explain the development of oedema in the first twelve hours. To explain this, at least two factors must be considered [18]: the maintenance of a driving force for uptake of NaCl and hence water into the parenchyma (see Sect. 4.1) and the increase in blood-brain barrier permeability to NaCl (see Sect. 4.2). Further production of osmotically active metabolites in the medium term appears not to have been investigated

¹⁵ Leakage of serum albumin has been seen to correlate directly with the formation and resolution of "pure" vasogenic oedema. In this there is no damage to cells within the parenchyma but blood vessels are temporarily made permeant to large and small solutes [177] (see also [178]). However, those are not the conditions that exist with ischaemic oedema.

with the exception of the single study [114] described in Sect. 3.5.3).

4.1 Maintenance of the driving forces for uptake of NaCl and water into the parenchyma

Once cells in the parenchyma have ceased to be able to pump Na⁺ (see Sects. 3.1 & 3.3) and have become permeable to Na⁺ (see below), their cell membranes are no longer an important barrier to movement of permeant ions and water into and out of the cells. In effect it is the impermeant intracellular molecules, e.g. proteins, nucleic acids, phosphate compounds, and the permeant ions that accumulate in response to the presence of the impermeants, that provide the osmotic driving force for water to enter (see Fig. 9 and appendix E).

4.2 Increased permeability of the blood-brain barrier to NaCl

An important feature in the formation of oedema in the medium term is the increase in permeability of the blood-brain barrier to NaCl. This increase partly reflects changes in paracellular transport across the endothelial cell layer (see Sect. 4.2.2). However, on present evidence, another major, possibly more important change is the expression and opening of Na⁺-permeable SUR1-TRPM4 channels, both in the endothelial cells of the blood-brain barrier facilitating transcellular transport and in astrocyte endfeet aiding onward transport into astrocytes.

4.2.1 The involvement of SUR1-TRPM4 cation channels in the formation of oedema

SUR1-TRPM4 (also called NC_{Ca-ATP}) is a non-selective cation channel involved in changes in blood-brain barrier permeability that lead to increased rates of oedema formation. SUR1-TRPM4 is formed by association of a SUR1 regulatory subunit with a TRPM4 channel. SUR1-TRPM4 is not expressed in uninjured brain and cannot be invoked to explain the earlier stage of oedema formation described in Sect. 3. However, during ischaemia there is transcriptional upregulation of both SUR1 and TRPM4 such that SUR1-TRPM4 becomes expressed in the plasma membranes of brain microvascular endothelial cells, astrocytes and neurons [173, 179-182]. Opening and closing of these channels depends on the level of ATP in the cells. ATP at normal levels binds to SUR1 and closes the associated TRPM4 ion channel, but at low ATP levels and in the presence of intracellular free Ca²⁺ the TRPM4 channel is open resulting in increased permeability of the blood-brain barrier to Na⁺ and K⁺ [18, 21, 173, 179, 183–186]. This, together with at least maintained permeability to Cl⁻, can plausibly account for at least part of the sustained oedema formation over the hours following the onset of ischaemia.



fluxes close to equilibrium but for all three permeant species the net flux is inwards

Fig. 9 Diagram showing the movements of permeants, Na⁺, K⁺ and Cl⁻, into and out of parenchymal and endothelial cells in the medium term during ischaemic swelling. The Na⁺- pump is inhibited both in the parenchymal and endothelial cells (compare with situation in Fig. 8). The net negative charge on the impermeants (Im⁻) will lead to accumulation of Na⁺ and K⁺. If equilibrium could be reached (sufficient impermeants would need to be in plasma) their concentrations in the parenchyma cells would be slightly greater than in plasma. (For an introduction to more quantitative treatment see appendix E). However, during swelling entry of water keeps these concentrations slightly below those in plasma. There thus continue to be small gradients that drive influx of solutes like Na⁺ and CI⁻ and this influx tends to increase solute concentrations which tend to increase the driving force for water entry. The net result is continually increasing amounts of solutes and water and thus tissue swelling

Part of the evidence that Na⁺ entry results from opening of SUR1-TRPM4 channels is the effectiveness of glibenclamide, (glyburide) an agent that binds to the SUR1 subunit and prevents opening of the associated SUR1-TRPM4.¹⁶ It has been found that glibenclamide substantially reduces oedema formation when given by continuous intravenous infusion starting immediately

 $^{^{16}}$ Glibenclamide also inhibits $\mathrm{K}_{\mathrm{ATP}}$ channels by binding to their SUR2 subunits. However, it is believed that it is the inhibition of SUR1-TRPM4 rather than KATP that is more important in explaining the effect of glibenclamide on oedema formation. K_{ATP} channels are K^{+} selective. During the development of oedema, block of K⁺ selective channels would prevent K⁺ loss and increase Cl⁻ gain accompanying Na⁺ entry (see Sect. 3), i.e. it would increase the rate of NaCl accumulation and cell swelling rather than reducing the rate as noted above. The relative importance of block of SUR1-TRPM4 channels is also supported by results showing that antisense knockdown of SUR1-TRPM4 channels (antisense oligodeoxynucleotides (ODNs) against either Abcc8/SUR1 or Trpm4/TRPM4) significantly reduce swelling while antisense knockdown of KATP (antisense-ODNs, either Kcnj8/Kir6.1 or Kcnj11/Kir6.2) have no effect [186]. Assuming that the Kir ODN's have similar access to the cells in which the anti-SUR1 and anti-TRPM4 ODNS are effective these results suggest that glibenclamide's effects on oedema can be ascribed to its blockade of SUR1-TRPM4 channels, plausibly those located on the endothelial cells of the blood-brain barrier.

after the insult [179] or by loading dose plus infusion starting as late as 10 h after start of a 4.5 h period of ischaemia followed by reperfusion [183, 187]. If, as proposed (see [188] and [189] for review), glibenclamide extends the window during which reperfusion can be beneficial, this may turn out to be the most important feature of its use.

The ability of SUR1-TRPM4 to increase the rate of swelling implies that under these circumstances ATP levels are low. That in turn implies that the Na⁺-pump is unlikely to play a major role in Na⁺ transport. If not, the movements of Na⁺ across the blood-brain barrier must involve passive transport across both luminal and abluminal membranes as indicated in Fig. 9 [185]. The experimental result that inhibition of SUR1-TRPM4 substantially decreases fluxes and rate of swelling thus argues that a) with SUR1-TRPM4 channels open, a large proportion of the fluxes are transcellular and b) that in the medium to long term, active transport across endothelial cell membranes does not make a major contribution.

4.2.2 Paracellular: The impact of partial opening of tight junctions on oedema formation

Ischaemia leads to changes in the tightness of the bloodbrain barrier. The endothelial cells of the blood-brain barrier are joined to each other by tight junctions which form a complete seal between the cells. Occludin and claudins are important molecular components of tight junctions that are found in epithelial layers throughout the body and also in certain endothelial layers. Differences in type and proportions of these components will determine the paracellular ionic permeability of any particular layer. Claudin-5 is the dominant claudin form in the endothelial lining at the blood-brain barrier and accounts for the much lower paracellular permeability of this interface compared to that of secretory epithelia such as the choroid plexuses [190, 191].

Changes in the properties of tight junctions following ischaemia are often described as occurring in two phases (see e.g. [192–195] but see also [196]). The first phase presumably begins soon after onset of ischaemia but may only become apparent after several hours. This manifests as an increase in permeability to small solutes (< 800 daltons) e.g. sucrose or a gadolinium probe. An increase in conductance of the blood-brain barrier, i.e. a decrease in transendothelial electrical resistance (TEER), may also be observed when opening is induced by addition of the chemokine CCL2 [197]. However, despite its importance, there has been no attempt to measure changes in paracellular permeability to Na⁺ and Cl⁻ during this phase. It is thought that the increase in permeability to small solutes may involve changes in conformation and position of claudin-5 [193, 197].

The second phase of barrier opening becomes apparent more than 12 h after onset of ischaemia and extends into days. It is associated with loss of tight junction structure and increase in permeability to a wider range of solutes than that seen during the first phase. This will be considered briefly in the next section.

5 The long term: gross failure of the blood-brain barrier. Haemorrhagic transformation

The development of oedema after ~ 12 h will be discussed only briefly here. A good indication of the complexities of the cellular and molecular events occurring in the longterm in the parenchyma can be seen in other reviews [16, 23, 81, 198–205]. Also outside the remit of this review is any coverage of the changes that commit neurons to death by either necrosis or apoptosis including Ca²⁺ overload [50, 206–208].

As cell death becomes more prominent, solutes produced within the parenchyma by catabolism may produce large osmotic effects [209, 210]. As the oedema spreads carrying these solutes, their effects can be seen at some distance from their site of production even in regions where the blood-brain barrier remains intact [17].

The late phase of oedema is associated with severe loss of tight junction structure in the vasculature within the core leading to gross failure of the blood-brain barrier. There is extensive proteolysis of extracellular matrix and internalization of tight junction components into the endothelial cells from where they may be recycled or degraded [23, 197, 211, 212]). This accounts for the observed increases in permeability to a wide range of solutes. In some instances, the paracellular permeability of the blood-brain barrier to large and small solutes becomes sufficiently high that osmotic pressure gradients can be ignored and paracellular transport becomes effectively a hydrostatic pressure driven flow (compare [177, 178]). Indeed, the ultimate limitation on oedema development may be haemostasis as this removes the source of fluid.

In many instances focal ischaemia does not proceed to haemorrhage but in 10–15% of cases it does. This is called haemorrhagic transformation or conversion. Reperfusion using tissue plasminogen activator (tPA) after ~ 4.5 h (see Sect. 6) increases the risk of transformation. Factors important in transformation have been reviewed comprehensively by Jicking et al. [202] and Jin et al. [213]. The sequelae of transformation are similar to those when haemorrhage is the original fault [16].

Conversion of damaged tissue to final infarct (the region in which all cells have died) entails clearance of the cellular and extracellular debris, resolution of the oedema (see Sect. 7) and then growth of new cells

including angiogenesis. Nervous tissue normally cannot be replaced and either the cellular component of the region of the infarct becomes a glial scar [214] [215–217]) or the volume ceases to be part of the parenchyma and is filled with CSF.

6 Reperfusion

Immediate reperfusion may avoid damage but if it is delayed until the blood-brain barrier has been comprehensively breached or even destroyed then this will obviously lead to severe oedema at best and very likely to haemorrhage. At some stage, reperfusion shifts from being beneficial to being harmful.

It is not known how long a neuron can be exposed to ischaemic conditions before cell death becomes inevitable, partly because this varies with the type and location of the neuron and on the "severity" of the ischaemia. Some neurons are thought to be particularly vulnerable [29] which may account for the relatively short period, for example after cardiac arrest, that can be survived without life support. Most neurons located in the core in focal ischaemia are unlikely to be rescuable after a period of the order of an hour (see e.g. [29, 40, 41]). Those located in the penumbra, receiving somewhat higher blood flow, have a better survival chance but even in those regions where most cells will survive there can be selective neuronal loss over the same time period [218].

The principal objective of reperfusion is not to reverse changes within the core, but rather to prevent the core from spreading beyond its initial extent and to prevent as far as possible neuronal loss in the penumbra and surrounding regions. Within the core, reperfusion may be achieved but will have little benefit (and may be harmful). By contrast the sooner spreading of the core into the penumbra can be halted, the smaller the volume that will become part of the core (see for instance [218, 219]).

Reperfusion may be attempted by thrombolysis using alteplase (tissue plasminogen activator, tPA)) [220, 221] or, if the embolism is in an accessible artery, by thrombectomy [222]. According to the current National Clinical Guideline for Stroke for the United Kingdom and Ireland [223] up to 4.5 h after onset thrombolysis should be considered "regardless of age or stroke severity" (recommendation 3.5A). Between 4.5 h and 9 h thrombolysis should be considered if there is evidence "of the potential to salvage brain tissue" (recommendation 3.5B). The time window for thrombectomy is longer. When certain criteria are met thrombectomy should be considered even 24 h after the onset of stroke. The principal criteria are accessibility of the clot and evidence from imaging that there is still tissue that can be salvaged. Obviously, the sooner the better.

The main reason that the recommended time window for thrombolysis is shorter than for thrombectomy is that in addition to activation of plasmin and lysis of the clot responsible for the stroke, tPA has harmful effects promoting haemorrhagic transformation. Prominently it leads to secretion of matrix metalloprotease leading to lysis of extracellular matrix and breakdown of the blood– brain barrier [224].

7 Resolution of oedema

There has been extensive work studying the resolution of oedema, particularly the oedema produced in the surrounding tissues either by focal freezing [225, 226] or by parenchymal infusions of fluids [227–232]. In these situations, it seems that during the time that fluid is accumulating either in the region of damage or at the site of infusion, the added fluid spreads through the surrounding tissue by pressure driven flow. Once the flow reaches white matter it tends to follow fibre tracts. If the fluid front reaches the brain parenchymal surface, it then flows into CSF [225, 228, 233]. However, in those cases where the oedema was produced by parenchymal infusion, this flow ceases shortly after the end of the infusion [234], or at least becomes much slower.

The excess volume introduced by mock CSF infusion in rats is removed from the parenchyma with a half-life of 12–24 h which is much faster than that after infusion of serum for which the half-life is several days [228]. This is most simply explained if there are two routes for removal of oedema fluid, transvascular and extravascular.

According to this explanation, mock CSF can be absorbed across the blood-brain barrier into the vasculature on a time scale of hours by a Starling-like mechanism. The Starling mechanism is too slow to have any significant impact on fluid movement across the bloodbrain barrier under normal conditions (see Sect. 3.2.1 and appendix A in [1]) but, given many hours, slow passive absorption of fluid, limited primarily by the low permeability to NaCl, may account for the removal of colloid free fluid during resolution of oedema.

Serum cannot be reabsorbed effectively by the Starling mechanism because the proteins it contains provide an opposing colloid osmotic pressure [228]. Thus reabsorption after infusion of serum must occur by the slower extravascular route. A recent study on oedema following trauma suggests that this extravascular route is inhibited during traumatic oedema formation [235] which raises the possibility that extravascular resolution of oedema may also be inhibited. Further studies are certainly warranted.

8 Overview and summary

Large scale oedema after trauma or stroke is life-threatening because it increases intracerebral pressure, *ICP* which may produce fatal brain herniation. However, it is, at present, not certain that small scale oedema is harmful; it may be a collateral effect of other events that do cause harm (appendix A).

Oedema is normally classified as osmotic, cytotoxic (e.g. ischaemic oedema), vasogenic (e.g. peritumoral oedema), periventricular (as seen in hydrocephalus (see [1]), and haemorrhagic or perihematomal (Sect. 1.1). The oedema associated with brain trauma is a mixture of cytotoxic, vasogenic and hemorrhagic oedemas (briefly mentioned in Sects. 1.1 and 5). Osmotic oedema occurs in water intoxication. Cytotoxic oedema arises from excess accumulation of solutes within cells. Vasogenic oedema arises from changes in the blood–brain barrier. This review considers primarily cytotoxic oedema arising from ischaemic stroke.

Initial events occurring during the onset of ischaemic oedema. These are described in Sect. 3. The blockage of blood vessels decreases blood flow and thus supply of O_2 and glucose leading to rapid formation of a core region with irreversible damage and a surrounding penumbra in which still viable cells are at risk. The events occurring can be summarized as follows:

- Depolarization of neurons in the core, and neural uptake of Na⁺ and Cl⁻, loss of K⁺ and neuronal swelling (Sect. 3.1).
- Greatly increased [K⁺]_{isf} in the core triggers spreading depolarizations into the adjacent penumbral region. The metabolic cost of recovering from spreading depolarization without adequate blood supply is a major factor in the spread of the ischaemic core into the penumbra (Sect. 3.2).
- Astrocytic uptake of Na⁺, K⁺ and anions and swelling of astrocytes in the core (Sect. 3.3).
- Reduction in ISF volume by uptake into cells (Sects. 3.4).
- Increased solute content of the parenchyma by influx of solutes from CSF (Sect. 3.5.1) and blood (Sect. 3.5.2) and by production of additional solutes (Sect. 3.4 and appendix E) within the parenchyma (Sect. 3.5.3) leads to development of oedema (Sect. 3.5).
- Water enters primarily from blood across the endothelial layer with some passing directly into astrocyte endfeet via AQP4.

Events in the medium term (Sect. 4). These include changes in the blood-brain barrier that enhance oedema formation. There is a substantial increase in NaCl

permeability of both parenchymal and endothelial cells. These changes include opening of SUR1-TPRM4 channels in neurons, astrocytes and endothelial cells, so allowing more rapid NaCl movements into and out of the cells (Sect. 4.2.1). In addition, there is an initial stage of opening of the tight junctions between the endothelial cells. In this initial stage, the important effect is an increase in permeability to small molecules (Sect. 4.2.2). The driving force for fluid entry into the parenchyma still arises from the presence of impermeant macromolecules in the parenchymal cells. Only substantially later does the blood–brain barrier become sufficiently leaky to large molecules, e.g. albumin, that their entry affects the driving force for fluid entry from blood.

Many aspects of tissue swelling in the medium term can be understood in terms of the Donnan effect caused by the excess of negative charge on large solutes trapped within the parenchymal cells. (Sects. 3 to 3.6 and 4.1 and appendix E).

Events in the long term (Sect. 5). At this point there is gross failure of the blood-brain barrier that occurs on a time scale of days. In about 10% of clinical cases this leads to haemorrhage into the tissue (haemorrhagic transformation). Lack of haemorrhage in 90% of cases implies that haemostasis has occurred.

Treatment At present the only effective treatment for ischaemic oedema is reperfusion (Sect. 6). If achieved sufficiently early it can greatly reduce the spread of ischaemic damage and oedema, but it cannot rescue the core. The major risk of reperfusion is haemorrhage.

Resolution of oedema (Sect. 7) This is a slow process requiring days or even weeks. Fluids without colloid, e.g. CSF or mock CSF, can be reabsorbed across the blood– brain barrier over a few days, presumably by the Starling mechanism with the rate limited by the permeability of the barrier to NaCl. If colloid is present in the fluid, e.g. after an infusion of serum, fluid must be removed by extravascular means which are much slower.

9 Conclusions

The development of focal ischaemic oedema depends on events that occur in a localized region of the brain. Nevertheless, when the ischaemic region is sufficiently large, the oedema can produce marked increases in *ICP* with devastating results, i.e. herniation of brain structures accompanied by mechanical damage. By contrast, when ischaemia affects smaller regions, it is still uncertain that the oedema itself is responsible for any of the adverse consequences.

The early stages of ischaemic oedema development involve a complex interplay of ionic movements between neurons, astrocytes, endothelial cells, ISF, CSF and blood. Many of the main players have now been identified making it possible to explain how the oedema develops. Oedema fluid accumulates inside cells for two reasons: because of the intracellular generation of new, osmotically active solutes by catabolism and because of the Donnan effect of the negatively-charged impermeant intracellular solutes such as proteins and phosphate compounds. Once the ischaemia deprives the cells of the energy needed to transport Na⁺ outwards, the presence of these impermeants and the negative potential they produce lead to intracellular accumulation of Na⁺ together with Cl⁻ to maintain electroneutrality. The new metabolic products, the impermeants and the accumulated permeants provide the osmolality necessary for water to be retained in the cells. While there is coupled transport of solutes and water across the cell membranes, present evidence suggests that this is not sufficient in the face of the membrane permeability to water to produce measurable osmotic gradients between the cells and ISF.

When ICP is increased by large scale oedema, herniation of brain structures can be avoided by craniectomy or by aspiration of the osmotically active infarct region. However, neither of these procedures is reported to be effective in restricting the size of the damaged parenchymal region. The only satisfactory treatment to maintain or restore function following ischaemic stroke is restoration of blood flow providing this can be achieved relatively quickly. In the core region where there is little blood flow, the damage is irreversible, but in the surrounding penumbral region where there is somewhat higher blood flow, some functional recovery can be achieved even after a number of hours. One important objective of current research is to find treatments which increase the time window for successful reperfusion.

While the development of ischaemic oedema can be explained using plausible arguments, there are still questions that need to be answered. These include:

- Which transporters or channels allow entry of Na⁺, K⁺, HCO₃⁻ and Cl⁻ (the permeants) into astrocytes? Measurements of concentrations of these ions inside astrocytes would be very useful.
- Do the differences between the isoforms of Na⁺-pump present in astrocytes and neurons noticeably affect oedema development?
- What is the importance of the localization of aquaporins to astrocyte endfeet? Can aquaporins be exploited to delay the development of oedema?

Appendix A

Does oedema per se cause neuronal damage in ischaemia? As discussed earlier, there is no doubt that severe widespread oedema is itself life threatening as it can increase intracranial pressure leading to brain herniation. The question here is whether less severe, more localized oedema can of itself cause damage to parenchymal cells or whether the damage which does occur is more directly the result of the ischaemia and spreading depolarizations.

In early work it was proposed that developing oedema was a key factor in spreading tissue damage. The tissue swelling was thought to compress blood vessels, perhaps just microvessels, reducing local blood flow and rendering surrounding tissue more ischaemic (see e.g. [236, 237]. The idea that there was compression of microvessels was based on the observation that much of the swelling during development of ischaemic oedema was in the astrocyte end feet surrounding microvessels [238, 239]. This view was never explicitly contradicted, but there was also little direct evidence for further reduction in blood flow as the oedema developed. The idea fell out of favour when it became apparent that spreading depolarizations account for at least part of the observed increase in core volume into the surrounding tissue (see e.g. [73, 240]. Takano et al. [48] showed it was the spreading depolarization increasing metabolic demand rather than any further deficit in blood flow that was challenging cell viability (see also [60]).

However, there is evidence that oedema per se has a role in neuronal damage. The size of an infarct is clearly a major determinant of the loss of neurological function. The "infarct" is the more or less sharply defined region in which all the cells are dead. There are two different but not mutually exclusive ways in which the volume of a region committed to becoming infarct can increase (see Fig. 10): by inclusion of more cells and structures or by swelling of the cells and structures already present within the region. Battey et al. [241] found in acute stroke subjects that the functional deficit measured on the modified Rankin scale 90 days after stroke correlated with the final size of the infarct but also and independently with the extent to which oedema contributed to the infarct expansion. Oedema even of extent as small as 11 mL worsened the outcome. In other words, given two infarcts of similar size, functional outcome was worse in the patient with greater oedema. Since all function of neurons within either of these two infarcts is irretrievably lost, regardless of the extent of oedema, any differences in neuronal function to be ascribed to effects of oedema must relate to effects outside the infarct. The suggestion is that oedema somehow causes an extra impairment or loss of function in tissue adjacent to the infarct, presumably from selective neuronal loss [218].

of ischaemia. The dashed circles represent the size of infarct after 2–3 days: upper right if cells outside the core region become incorporated but with no change in cell volume; lower left the size of an infarct if cells originally within the core swell but no extra cells from outside the original core are incorporated: lower right if both of these indicated changes take place

Further evidence for a role for oedema per se in neural damage has been obtained using glibenclamide and MCAO in rats. In a 4.5 h transient MCAO model, it was found that oedema, behavioural deficit and mortality determined at 28 h after occlusion could all be reduced by treatment with glibenclamide starting 4.5 h or even 10 h after occlusion. By contrast the final infarct volume was not reduced [187], see also [242]. The ability of glibenclamide given after 4.5 h to reduce behavioural deficit but not infarct size indicates that glibenclamide is somehow involved in limiting neural damage additional to that occurring within the infarct. Furthermore, because glibenclamide also reduces oedema, it is possible that the effect on behaviour results from its effect on oedema.

Further evidence that oedema produces adverse effects was reported by Woo et al. [186] who found that the antisense oligodeoxynucleotides they used to knock-down SUR1-TRPM4 significantly reduced oedema (calculated from stained sections as in [243])¹⁷ and loss of function assessed as spontaneous movement but had no effect on infarct volume. All of these were measured 24 h after occlusion. Similarly Stokum et al. [173] found in mice that, when results after MCAO with different reperfusion times were compared, there were worse functional outcomes when oedema was greater for the same final infarct size.

Whether targeting the formation of oedema with the aim of increasing retention of function will ultimately lead to useful treatment of ischaemic stroke is still not known. Stokum et al. [21] and Robert et al. [244] have presented interesting overviews of the various treatments being considered in 2020.

Appendix B

Lactic acidosis in ischaemia

The term acidosis refers to the processes leading to a reduction in the pH of a body fluid. "Lactic acidosis" thus means that pH is reduced as a result of lactic acid production. There has been considerable controversy about the use of this term [245-250] because the reactions that produce lactate⁻ from glucose do not in themselves produce the protons needed for lactic acid [155, 251]. Thus writing the reactions in a way that displays conservation of charge

glucose + 2
$$Pi^{2-}$$
 + 2 ADP^{3-} + 2 NAD^+ >
2 $pvruvate^-$ + 2 ATP^{4-} + 2 $NADH$ + 2 H^+ + 2 H_2O (1)

and

2

$$2 \text{ pyruvate}^- + 2 \text{ NADH} + 2 \text{ H}^+ - >$$

$$2 \text{ lactate}^- + 2 \text{ NAD}^+$$
(2)

which together become

glucose + 2 Pi²⁻ + 2 ADP³⁻
$$\rightarrow$$
 >
2 lactate⁻ + 2 ATP⁴⁻ + 2 H₂O. (3)

It is clear that these reactions do not result in a net production of any acid, i.e. H⁺. In that case how can they be the origin of acidosis?

However these reactions should not be considered in isolation. They are occurring to regenerate the ATP that is being consumed in performing the work being done by the cell. When the ATP consuming reactions,



¹⁷ In Woo et al. [186] and Liu et al. [252] the final volume occupied by the infarct would be that shown lower right, while the infarct volume corrected for swelling, often called just the infarct volume, would be that shown upper right. The corrected volume is the volume of the region occupied before ischaemia by the cells which are in the final infarct.

$$2ATP^{4-} + 2H_2O \longrightarrow 2Pi^{2-} + 2ADP^{3-} + 2H^+ + heat and energy to perform work,$$
(4)

are combined with anaerobic glycolysis, the overall reaction supporting the work of the cell is

glucose — >
$$2 \text{lactate}^- + 2 \text{H}^+ + \text{work \& heat, (5)}$$

i.e. the anaerobic metabolism of glucose to obtain the energy needed for work does produce lactic acid and is responsible for a fall in pH. Thus, to the extent that these are the reactions occurring, calling the acidosis "lactic acidosis" is appropriate [155]. The role of production of lactic acid in normal pH regulation in the CNS was reviewed in Sect. 6 of [4].

The controversy over the name "lactic acidosis" isn't entirely a matter of semantics: there is a substantive issue concerned with the acidosis observed with ischaemia. In this situation, part of the production of acid results from the breakdown of ATP and other forms of high energy phosphate compounds already present within the cell, hence to the extent that the acidosis results from such breakdown it has nothing to do with lactate. However, because substantially more lactate can be produced than existing ATP + creatinine phosphate (see e.g. [102]) much of the reduction of pH inside the cell depends on lactate production. Thus the term lactic acidosis (or lactacidosis), which has been used for many years (see e.g. [155, 253, 254]), is still appropriate.

Appendix C

Ischaemic responses of neurons and astrocytes

Na⁺-pumps are key players: (a) in the long-term regulation of intracellular and extracellular Na⁺ and K⁺ concentrations, (b) in the reuptake of K⁺ and expulsion of Na⁺ after action potentials in nerve; and (c) in the redistributions of Na⁺ and K⁺ in the cells and interstitial fluid occurring in ischaemia. For the first of these roles the important pumps are located in the endothelial cells of the blood–brain barrier while for the second they are located in neurons. Pumps in neurons, astrocytes and endothelial cells are important during the development of oedema until the ATP/ADP ratio drops sufficiently to stop their function.

Neurons

lons

There are likely to be at least four types of ion channels that can allow the early Na^+ entry into neurons in ischaemia including voltage excitable Na^+ channels and NMDA cation channels that are opened by glutamate⁻. It is possible to inhibit the Na^+ entry and depolarization with a cocktail of cation channel inhibitors (TTX which

block voltage excitable Na⁺ channels, CPP which blocks NMDA cation channels, DNQX which blocks other glutamate⁻ activated channels, and Ni²⁺ which blocks various cation channels) [255], but, by omitting any one of these, spreading depolarizations (see below) recorded from CA1 pyramidal neurones in rat hippocampal brain slices [43] (see also [256]) could still occur. (The multiplicity of channels and overlap in their functions may be part of the explanation for why it is difficult to achieve beneficial clinical effects in stroke with inhibitors of any single type of channel.) Ion channels and transporters involved in oedema are reviewed in [257].

In the normal resting state of a neuron there is a small inward leak of Na⁺ balanced by an outward flux via the Na⁺-pump. The resulting inward flux of K⁺ via the pump and an outward flux of Cl⁻ by secondary active transport via a K^+ , Cl^- cotransporter, probably KCC2 [46], are in turn balanced by fluxes in the opposite directions, presumably via channels. The pump-leak balance maintains resting [K⁺]_{neuron} above and resting [Cl⁻]_{neuron} below equilibrium with the membrane potential such that increasing the passive permeability to either ion produces hyperpolarization (e.g. an inhibitory postsynaptic potential). In the ischaemic core the inhibition of the Na⁺-pump when ATP is depleted leads to depolarization, caused primarily by the then unopposed Na⁺ entry. The depolarization leads to an increase in K⁺ permeability and release of K⁺ which decreases [K⁺]_{neuron} and increases [K⁺]_{isf}. The change in the membrane potential also increases Cl⁻ transport into the neurons. Because the cell contents must remain almost neutral, the gain of Na^+ must be close to the sum of the loss of K^+ and gain of Cl⁻. Any departure from electroneutrality large enough to be detected by means other than by measuring the potential would produce an impossibly large electrical potential. (There is no need to invoke specific binding of K^+ (as in [18]) to explain why the gain of Na⁺ exceeds the loss of K^+ and there is no evidence for such binding.)

Water

The net gain of solutes in the neuron has frequently been stated to be the cause of neural swelling, tacitly assuming that the influx of water is osmotically driven. For this to be correct, the water permeability of the neuron must be adequate. The osmotic water permeability of pyramidal neurons with nearly normal resting potential in tissue slices is remarkably low. As Andrew et al. [49] note, this implies that these neurons do not have aquaporins and in addition that they are among the "cell types … that resist high osmotic gradients with specialized membranes that impede the equilibration of water between compartments". Andrew et al. suggest that the rapid swelling observed during depolarization can be explained if some of the channels or transporters opened or activated by the depolarization are permeable to water.

Steffensen et al. [44] have suggested an alternative explanation for rapid water entry into dendritic beads during depolarization. They conclude that the water entry occurs by coupled transport through cotransporters like the Na⁺,K⁺,2Cl⁻ transporter NKCC1 and the lactic acid transporter MCT2. In support of their suggestion, they report that omission of Cl⁻ or use of inhibitors of NKCC1, (furosemide) and MCT2 (4-CIN) reduces swelling without affecting spreading depolarization. However, this evidence does not establish that cotransport of water is essential for swelling in dendritic beads or in cell bodies. For swelling to occur, there must be entry of cations, anions and water. All the available evidence can be explained if there is inhibition of anion entry reducing the osmotic gradient that would be needed to drive osmotic entry of water. In the dendritic beads, the inhibition of NKCC1 activity would thus inhibit swelling regardless of the route of water entry. (Neither Cl⁻ entry nor NKCC1 activity are needed for spreading depolarization.) In cell bodies, cell swelling was not inhibited by bumetanide (an inhibitor of NKCC1) within a few minutes of persistent activation of Na⁺ channels but was blocked by DIDS and siRNA directed against the Cl⁻ transporter slc26a11 [45], which is also consistent with the primary importance of the inhibition of anion transport. The two hypotheses for the mechanism of swelling could be distinguished if the osmotic water permeability of the depolarized neurons were known, but apparently those experiments have not yet been done.

Astrocytes

lons

Based on evidence obtained with astrocytes in cell culture it has been proposed that most of the K⁺ and Cl⁻ entry into astrocytes is mediated by the Na⁺, K⁺, 2Cl⁻-cotransporter, NKCC1 [258–260]. However, while NKCC1 expression in cultured astrocytes is high, that in astrocytes in vivo is low, reported as being either undetectable [261] or comparable to the low levels seen in adult neurons [262] (for extensive discussion see [96] but for a contrary view see [90]). Consistent with low expression of NKCC1, furosemide, an inhibitor of NKCC1, had negligible effect on the change in [K⁺]_{isf} when K⁺ was added iontophoretically [263].

MacAulay [96] has extensively reviewed studies on the changes in $[K^+]_{isf}$ and the volume of the extracellular space following repetitive nerve stimulation. Some care is required in comparing those results with the changes in ischaemia. Following nerve stimulation there is reuptake of K^+ into neurons as their Na⁺-pumps are stimulated by the increase in $[Na^+]_{neuron}$ (see e.g. [264, 265] and Fig. B-1) but with the fall in [ATP] in ischaemia this reuptake will be much less obvious. Similarly, because ATP becomes depleted in ischaemia, the role of the Na⁺-pumps in astrocytes is likely to differ between the response to nerve stimulation and that to ischaemia. Nevertheless, results obtained during and after repetitive nerve stimulation (see Fig. B-1) do still inform any discussion of the mechanisms involved in responses to ischaemia.

The account in [96] assigns only a restricted role to the K⁺ conductance of astrocytes in the response to nerve stimulation, noting that it sets the resting potential and thus is important in the initial astrocytic depolarization when $[K^+]_{isf}$ is increased. The uptake of K^+ into astrocytes is said to occur primarily via their Na⁺-pumps [86, 95, 96, 265]. However, while the importance of Na⁺-pumps in reuptake of K⁺ into neurons is well established, the relative importance of astrocytic Na⁺ pumps and K⁺ channels in K⁺ entry into astrocytes is not so clear. Data shown in Fig. 11 from the meticulous study by D'Ambrosio et al. [265] provide a good example. The interpretation in the legend to Fig. 11 differs from the interpretation given by D'Ambrosio in that it takes into account the strong possibility that neurons and astrocytes have different isoforms of the Na⁺-pumps with different affinities for inhibitors [266-269]. Reinterpreted, D'Ambrosio et al.'s data suggest a role for Ba²⁺-sensitive K⁺-channels in entry of K⁺ into astrocytes both during and after stimulation of K⁺ release from neurons.

It is unfortunate that the study by D'Ambrosio et al. [265] did not report data either for a sufficient concentration of the Na⁺-pump inhibitor to inhibit the pumps in astrocytes or for the combination of pump inhibitor and Ba²⁺. These results might have allowed a clearer distinction between pump-mediated and channel-mediated fluxes of K⁺ into astrocytes.

In the account given in Sect. 3.3, K⁺ conductance is given more prominence (compare [270]) than in [96] for two principal reasons, first in ischaemia the Na⁺-pumps in the astrocytes are to some extent inhibited and secondly some route for inward current is required to maintain approximate electroneutrality during astrocyte swelling (see Fig. 4).

In the initial changes during ischaemia, both NBCe1 and the Na⁺-pump, if functioning, are expected to carry outward currents, NBCe1 as a net inward movement of negative charge, 2 HCO_3^- for each Na⁺, and the Na⁺-pump as an outward movement of positive charge, 3 Na⁺ outward for each 2 K⁺ inward.

The only plausible routes for an inward current are K^+ entry via the K^+ conductance and Na⁺ entry via charge



carrying cotransporters with Na⁺- glutamate cotransport being the most prominent [271].

The stoichiometry of the Na⁺, glutamate⁻-transporter is complex, but it mediates a net current into the astrocyte, which will tend to depolarize it, while at the same time being a source of intracellular anions. Thus, it might be expected to account for some of the volume increase in astrocytes and the ISF decrease. However, inhibition of coupled glutamate transport with the inhibitor TBOA (200 μ M, DL-threo-b-Benzyloxyaspartic acid) produced a modest potentiation of the nerve-stimulus-induced decrease in ISF volume, i.e. a change in the reverse direction of that expected if the astrocyte volume increase and ISF volume decrease were the results of coupled transport of glutamate into the astrocytes [95]. Hence, by a process of elimination, that leaves K⁺ entry as the likely basis for the inward current.

There are a number of arguments in favour of channels mediating K^+ entry into astrocytes in ischaemia including:

- K⁺ channels are present and at least initially open;
- [K⁺]_{isf} is greatly increased while [Na⁺]_{isf} is substantially reduced, favouring importance of K⁺ entry mechanisms;

Fig. 11 Effects of a dihydro-ouabain (DHO) and b) Ba²⁺ on [K⁺]_{isf}. Concentrations were measured using ion-selective microelectrodes under baseline conditions and during antidromic Schaffer collateral 3 Hz stimulation of cells in the CA3 stratum pyramidale of rat hippocampus. Neuron firing releases K⁺ into the ISF. DHO is an inhibitor of Na⁺-pumps; Ba²⁺ inhibits Kir4.1 K⁺ channels known to be expressed in the astrocytes. Data traces are from D'Ambrosio et al. [265]. Each trace shows the baseline values before 3 Hz stimulation begins at 4 min. During this initial period, the rates of K⁺ release and uptake are in balance for the neurons and the astrocytes. In the control traces in both a) and b) at the onset of stimulation [K⁺]_{isf} increases rapidly to a peak then falls gradually as increases in [Na⁺]_{neuron} stimulate the neural Na⁺-pumps and thus increase the rate of reuptake of K⁺ into the neurons. At the end of stimulation, [K⁺]_{isf} decreases rapidly, overshoots the baseline and then increases towards baseline as [Na⁺]_{neuron} and the rate of K⁺ uptake into the neurons return to baseline values [265]. Both DHO in **a** and Ba^{2+} in **b** increase the baseline prestimulation $[K^+]_{isf}$ compared to its paired control suggesting that each inhibits one or more routes of removal of K⁺ from ISF. a With DHO present, at the onset of stimulation [K⁺]_{isf} increases rapidly to a higher and sustained plateau indicating that the rate of K⁺ removal from ISF is the same as the increased rate at which it is being released from the neurons. At the end of stimulation [K⁺]_{ief} decreases rapidly but with little overshoot. The absence of the gradual decline during stimulation and the lack of overshoot afterwards suggest that 5 µM DHO has completely inhibited the Na⁺ pumps in the neurons. This is consistent with the idea that the isoform of the pump in the neurons has a relatively high affinity for DHO [267]. In this interpretation, the release of K⁺ during stimulation would be balanced by uptake into astrocytes. From the evidence discussed so far this uptake could be via either a pump isoform with relatively low affinity for DHO or K⁺ channels. **b** With Ba²⁺ present, [K⁺]_{isf} is higher than in the paired control both before and during stimulation suggesting that Ba²⁺ has inhibited removal of K⁺ from ISF into the cells. At the end of stimulation, Ba²⁺ accentuates the size of the overshoot in [K⁺]_{isf} below the baseline before stimulation. This phenomenon is explained [265] by the combination of continued rapid uptake of K⁺ by the neural Na⁺-pumps stimulated by increased [Na⁺]_{neuron} together with inhibition by Ba²⁺ of the return of K⁺ to ISF from the astrocytes

- Ba²⁺, a Kir channel blocker, has been found to block most of the K⁺ entry into glia [69] (but see caveat below);
- Ba²⁺ augments the change in [K⁺]_{isf} when K⁺ is added iontophoretically [263];
- deletion of the Kir4.1 subunit in mice abolished buffering of [K.⁺]_{isf} in the ventral respiratory group [272]
- both baseline and nerve simulation increased [K⁺]_{isf} are higher in the presence of Ba²⁺ (see Fig. 11 and discussion above).

It would be very interesting indeed to know how $[K^+]_{astrocyte}$, $[Na^+]_{astrocyte}$, $[Cl^-]_{astrocyte}$, $[HCO_3^-]_{astrocyte}$ and $pH_{astrocyte}$ vary in intact tissue during ischaemia both initially when $[K^+]_{isf}$ is first increased and also subsequently. However, experiments reporting changes actually recorded within astrocytes, as opposed to being

inferred from those recorded in ISF, have been rare. Ballanyi et al. [69] used sharp microelectrodes to penetrate glial cells. Unfortunately, there is uncertainty about whether the glial cells in their experiments were astrocytes or oligodendrocytes [85] (or NG2 cells [270]) and thus further investigation is required (compare [65]). Du et al. [273] used patch clamp recording in slices from control mice and those with knock-out of either TWIK-1 or TWIK-1 and TREK-1 K⁺ channels and found no difference in their passive conductance or input resistance, suggesting that some other type of channel (the obvious candidate being Kir4.1) is responsible for the resting conductance of astrocytes. By contrast Junsung Woo et al. [89] loaded individual cells with a K⁺ sensitive dye via a patch pipette and recorded transients in neurons and astrocytes in response to neural stimulation. Not surprisingly they found that K⁺ was released from the neurons and taken up by the astrocytes. However, they found that the uptake in astrocytes was blocked by shRNA knockdown of TREK-1 channels and not by knockdown of Kir4.1. Which K⁺ channels are most important is not yet certain and may not be the same in all astrocytes [89, 273-276].

There is likely to be some recycling of HCO_3^- and some entry of Cl⁻, but the mechanisms for these are unknown. One suggestion has been HCO_3^- / Cl^- exchange [277] [278] [279, 280] but the efflux of HCO_3^- from astrocytes after repetitive nerve simulation appears to be by reversal of NBCe1 rather than HCO_3^- / Cl^- exchange [281].

Water

MacAulay [96] describes the mechanism for water uptake from ISF into astrocytes as being primarily cotransport of water along with Na⁺ and HCO_3^- by NBCe1. (There is also an incompletely defined role for monocarboxylate transporters, MCTs). Much of the evidence in favour of this proposal is that inhibition of NBCe1 reduces astrocyte swelling [95, 96]. However, to the extent that anion entry into astrocytes requires NBCe1, its inhibition would tend to hyperpolarize the cells and inhibit their swelling, regardless of whether the net entry of water was occurring by cotransport or via osmotically driven fluxes.

The argument against water entry by osmotically driven water fluxes given by MacAulay is based on their result [96, 282] (see also [283]) that inhibition of AQP4 does not reduce the rate of astrocyte swelling and ISF volume reduction following repetitive nerve stimulation. Set against that, however, are conflicting results showing that knock-out of AQP4 reduces [162] or knockdown virtually abolishes [89]) the swelling response. Furthermore, if inhibition of AQP4 does fail to affect the response that would only argue against a requirement for AQP4 not against osmotically driven water movement through other routes including the lipid portions of the membrane. As noted in [96], Solenov et al. [284] found that at 37 °C the water permeability of cultured astrocytes from AQP4 knockout mice was still about half that of those cultured from wild-type mice which might be sufficient to allow rapid water entry. Further study is required to clarify the roles of AQP4, of osmotic movements of water, and of co-transport of water via NBCe1.

Appendix D

The early changes in tissue volume, Na⁺ and K⁺ content and osmolality following onset of ischaemia.

These studies are now more than thirty years old. Despite this there does not seem to have been any compilation of the results. Nor has there been any discussion of the relative merits of the assertions that tissue swelling (water gain) is driven primarily by the metabolic production of new osmoles or that the swelling is due to accumulation of NaCl. The conclusion reported in Fig. 5 based on consideration of the data in Table 1 is that both are important. Three reports were excluded from calculations of the fraction of swelling attributable to NaCl entry, because in two cases [285, 286] data from at least 3 h of ischaemia were not included and in one case [112] changes in Na⁺ and K⁺ were not reported.

The mean values of the quantities calculated from the experiments in Table 1 (with the three exclusions discussed above) are: water gain, 0.83 mL g⁻¹ (scaled to 4 h time point); ionic osmolality in the added fluid (at the time points of the data), 177 mOsmolal; osmolality attributable to new osmoles produced within the tissue, 133 mOsmolal. Based on these values the water gain over 4 h attributable to uptake of NaCl and loss of KCl is 0.47 mL g⁻¹ and to production of new osmoles 0.36 mL g⁻¹. Given the scatter of the data, these are only rough estimates.

One of the reasons why the data are scattered may be the different ways in which the parenchymal samples were obtained for measurement of water and solute gains. These varied from using an entire hemisphere subjected to MCAO [286, 287] to using small cubes, 1 mm³, dissected from the MCAO core [176, 288, 289]. It is difficult to say how these differences may have affected the results reported in Table 1 because with the exceptions of [176] they are not discussed in the original papers (see also [289]). However, the errors introduced by using the whole hemisphere are probably not as great as might be imagined. To see this, consider a simple, artificial example of the calculations of fluid uptakes per unit volume when all of the uptake into a hemisphere with volume V_{hemi} occurs within a portion with volume V_{sample} . Because the estimate of the uptake per unit volume is just the measured uptake divided by the volume, the ratio of the estimates obtained by taking the hemisphere

Table 1	The early chan	ges in volume	e and fluid	composition	in regions	of brain	parenchyma	subject to	ischaemia	following	middle
cerebral	artery occlusior	n (MCAo) or ca	rotid artery	occlusion in t	he case of	gerbil st	tudies				

Species	Time after insult/h	water gain/ mL g ^{-1 a}	Na ⁺ gain/ µmol g ^{-1 b}	K ⁺ loss/ μmol g ^{-1 b}	ionic osmolality of added fluid/mOsmolal ^c	Δosmolality/ mOsmolal ^d	Ref. ^e	
cat	2	0.56	69	88	88 - 67		Bartko et al. [285]	
gerbil	3	0.76	185	130	145		Ito et al. [287]	
cat	4	0.7	192	137	157	16–22	Schuier and Hoss-mann [102]	
cat	4	0.72				9	Hossmann [112]	
rat	4	1.91	263	- 39	316		Young et al. [63]	
gerbil	3	0.44	146	108	173		Lo et al. [125]	
rat	4	0.4	139	141	- 10	18	Hatashita et al. [113]	
cat	4	0.7	178	114	183 ^e	9	Hossmann [114] ^{f, e}	
gerbil	3	0.53	160	91	260		Betz et al. [288]	
rat	2	0.55	228	95	483		Yang et al. [286]	
rat	4	0.65	178	116	191		Menzies et al. [176]	

^a This column denotes the change in volume measured in terms of water content per unit dry weight of tissue, i.e. the solids after the water is evaporated. (For the calculations leading to Fig. 5, water gains measured after three hours were presumed to continue at the same rate for an additional hour.) The water gain at any time point can be calculated [290] from values for the percentage of water in the tissue (taken to be milliliters per 100 g of tissue wet weight). The water content per unit dry weight both before and after the period of ischaemia can be calculated as % water / (100-% water) and the gain is then the difference. In Fig. 5 the water content per unit dry weight before ischaemia is taken as 8 mL g⁻¹

^b These columns show the content of Na⁺ or K⁺ measured per unit dry weight of tissue

^c In this column the ionic osmolality of the added fluid has been calculated from the previous columns assuming CI^- gain = Na^+ gain— K^+ loss (net gain of Na^+ , K^+ and CI^-) / (water gain) = 2 x (Na^+ gain— K^+ loss) / (water gain). The calculation of the fraction of the swelling that can be attributed to net uptake of NaCl minus loss of KCl shown in Fig. 5 and listed below is based on the assumption that the osmolality of ISF during swelling is 310 mOsmolal which is close to the sum of the initial osmolality, assumed to be 296 mOsmolal, plus the average of the few values of the increase in osmolality that have been determined experimentally. The fraction is then the ionic osmolality of the added fluid / 310 mOsmolal. The remainder of the osmolality is assumed to be provided by the production of new osmoles within the tissue

 $^{
m d}$ Δ osmolality is the total osmolality 2 or 3 h after onset of ischaemia (depending on the study) minus that before onset

^e Murtha et al. [291] reported smaller, not significantly different from zero, oedemas measured 24 h after onset of 3 h transient MCAO. These data could not be used because they didn't report oedema at any earlier time points

^f Hossmann discusses the sequence of increases in metabolically produced osmoles and influx of NaCI with the former occurring at the beginning and the latter proceeding with a delay of about an hour compared to the uptake of water. This suggests that subsequent increase in oedema is accompanied by ~ 310 mOsmoles of ions per litre gained less than 19 mmHg which as a driving force for fluid movement is equivalent to 1 mOsmolal. Thus influx of colloid and hydrostatic pressure gradients almost certainly do not drive the early development of ischaemic oedema (compare [175, 176, 288])

instead of the sample for analysis would be just the ratio, $V_{\text{sample}}/V_{\text{hemi}}$. Use of the hemisphere as the sample will lead to underestimation of the uptake per unit volume, but the errors may be little more than a factor of 2 when the oedematous region is large.

The osmotic effects of entry of NaCl from outside the parenchyma and the production of new osmoles within the parenchyma are much larger than any conceivable effects of influx of serum albumin from blood or of hydrostatic pressure differences between the tissue and blood. The largest conceivable osmolality attributable to influx of serum albumin from blood would be a few mOsmolal. The largest conceivable hydrostatic pressure difference would be less than 19 mmHg which as a driving force for fluid movement is equivalent to 1 mOsmolal. Thus influx of colloid and hydrostatic pressure gradients almost certainly do not drive the early development of ischaemic oedema (compare [174, 175, 285]).

Appendix E

The Donnan effect, cell swelling and oedema

The electrical potential difference across the cell membrane separating the contents of a cell from its outside is equal to the net charge within the cell divided by the capacitance of the membrane. Thus, for cells with negative potentials, there is an excess of negative over positive charge within the cell. However, over the entire range of membrane potentials observed, the difference between the amounts of negative and positive charge present is very much smaller than either of those amounts, i.e. the amounts of negative and positive charge are almost equal. When determined in any way other than by measuring the membrane potential, the net charge is within experimental error of being zero: the cell contents appear to be neutral. The approximation used in calculations that the cell contents are neutral even though the potential difference is not zero is the so-called Principle of Electroneutrality (see e.g. Section 6.1.2. in [4]).

Cells contain large amounts of impermeant negatively charged solutes, e.g. proteins, nucleic acids, and phosphate compounds. Because otherwise membrane potentials would be prohibitively large, the permeant solutes must be distributed to balance that charge. In practice this means the cells must contain more K⁺ than Cl⁻. Given two important assumptions, (a) that solutes can be divided into those that are effectively impermeant and those that are permeant and (b) that water reaches osmotic equilibrium, the Donnan equilibrium describes quantitatively the relations between the amounts and charges of the impermeants, the concentrations and charges of the permeant ions, the membrane potential and cell volume.¹⁸ The Donnan effect is the tendency for the permeant ions and water to move so that the concentrations and volume approach this equilibrium. The Donnan potential is the membrane potential at Donnan equilibrium. The Donnan equilibrium [292, 293] was introduced into cell physiology by Boyle and Conway [294] who used it to account for the cell volume changes and distribution of ions observed in frog skeletal muscle fibres.

To better understand the consequences of the Donnan effect, consider what would happen if a cell like a muscle fibre were suspended in just KCl. Because the negative potential would lead to more accumulation of K^+ than depletion of Cl^- , $[K^+]_{inside} + [Cl^-]_{inside}$ would be larger than $[K^+]_{outside} + [Cl^-]_{outside}$ and the osmotic pressure inside the cell would be higher than that outside which would drive cell swelling.¹⁹ For the fibre to have a stable volume either the osmotic pressure must be balanced by a higher hydrostatic pressure acting on the fluid inside the fibre than on the fluid outside or there must be some impermeant solute that can increase the osmotic pressure of the solution outside. For mammalian cells with membranes that cannot support significant hydrostatic pressure differences, this means in practice that there

¹⁹ For a muscle fibre containing fixed negative charge and freely permeable to K⁺ and Cl⁻, the concentrations and the membrane potential ΔV_m at equilibrium must satisfy $\frac{[K^+]_{\text{inside}}}{[K^+]_{\text{outside}}} = e^{\frac{-F\Delta V_m}{RI}}$ and $\frac{[Cl^-]_{\text{inside}}}{[Cl^-]_{\text{outside}}} = e^{\frac{F\Delta V_m}{RI}}$ where *F* is the Faraday constant, *R* the gas constant and *T* is the absolute temperature. If the fibre is suspended in a solution of just KCl, $[K^+]_{\text{outside}} = [Cl^-]_{\text{outside}}$ and, because mathematically $e^x + e^{-x} > 2$ for any *x*, electrical equilbrium requires

$$\begin{split} \left[K^{+} \right]_{\text{inside}} \,+\, \left[Cl^{-} \right]_{\text{inside}} \,= \left[K^{+} \right]_{\text{outside}} \left(e^{\frac{-F \Delta V_{\text{III}}}{RT} \,+\, \frac{F \Delta V_{\text{III}}}{RT}} \right) \,>\, 2 \left[K^{+} \right]_{\text{outside}} \\ &> \left[K^{+} \right]_{\text{outside}} \,+\, \left[Cl^{-} \right]_{\text{outside}} \end{split}$$

Thus the fibre suspended in just KCl cannot be at osmotic equilibrium. There must be some impermeant solutes outside. Page 25 of 33

must be external impermeants. An important role of the Na⁺-pump is to render the cell membrane effectively impermeant to Na⁺ so that the Na⁺ inside acts as one of the internal impermeants and the Na⁺ outside, present at a relatively high concentration, can act as the external impermeant that allows osmotic balance. For muscle fibres Boyle and Conway showed that the experimentally measured distributions of K⁺ (high inside) and Cl⁻ (low inside), the membrane potential (negative inside) and the cell volume were interrelated as predicted by Donnan's equations. The initial swelling of brain cells surrounded by ISF in the early stages of ischaemia has been described in Sects. 3.1–3.3, Fig. 4, Fig. 8 and appendix C in terms like those used by Boyle and Conway.

The Donnan theory can also be used to interpret data for a gel with a flexible framework of negatively charged molecular strands with the spaces between them filled with solution. Such a gel can expand and shrink taking up and releasing fluid and ions. To be able to resist expansion, the gel strands must be cross linked. Stable volumes can then be achieved because stretching of the tissue matrix increases the pressure acting on the fluid. This type of Donnan theory has been used to interpret data obtained from experiments studying the swelling of brain tissue slices in culture medium when the cells have been damaged by inhibition of cell metabolism [295–297]. Furthermore, it has been asserted that this theory for a gel can be used to interpret the formation of oedema in the brain [295–298].

The Donnan theory with the entire tissue intracellular and extracellular treated like a single gel does provide a plausible description of the swelling of the damaged tissue slices. However, there are several reasons why somewhat more care is required in the application of Donnan theory to interpret the development of ischaemic brain oedema. Firstly, the theory as applied to the slices takes no account of the effects of the cell membranes or the blood-brain barrier, which are important in situ, and in particular the Donnan theory for slices does not allow for differences in the handling of Na⁺ and of K⁺ in the initial stages of the oedema development. Secondly, as a result of damaging the cell membranes in the slices, many of the impermeant solutes, some with negative charge, will escape from the inside of the neurons and astrocytes and be washed away. Much of the oedema in ischaemic brain develops before the cell membranes are completely disrupted and thus the "fixed" charge densities in the swelling brain and in swelling slices will be different. Thirdly, analysis of the slice preparation does not allow for the differences in the behaviour of astrocytes and neurons. Finally, even if the cell membranes are disrupted completely in later stages of oedema, thus exposing the intracellular gel directly to that outside the cells, most of the oedema will be accumulating outside of the relics of

¹⁸ Strictly it is necessary to know the activity coefficients for the ions and the nature and extent of binding of the ions to cell constituents. These factors substantially complicate quantitative predictions, but do not change any of the qualitative features of the Donnan equilibrium. In practice provided only monovalent ions are being considered, the errors involved in the predictions are usually smaller than those contained in the experimental results.

the cells in grossly swollen extracellular spaces (often in white matter), i.e. not within what was the cellular gel.

Abbreviations

ADC	Apparent diffusion constant (in MRI measurements)
ADP	Adenosine diphosphate
AQP4	Aquaporin 4
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
CCL2	Chemokine ligand 2, monocyte chemoattractant protein-1
C _i :	Concentration of ith solute
CNS	Central nervous system
CPP	(±)-3-(2-carboxypiperazin-4- yl)-propyl-1-phosphonic acid
CSF	Cerebrospinal fluid
4-CIN	4-hydroxycinnamate
DHO	Dihydro-ouabain
DIDS	4,4 -diisothiocyanatostilbene-2,2 -disulphonic acid
DNQX	6,7-dinitroguinoxaline-2,3-dione
DOTA-Gd	Gadoteric acid (Dotarem®)
ECF	Extracellular fluid
F	The Faraday constant
ICE	Intracellular fluid
ICP	Intracranial pressure
IMP-	Impermeant solutes with net negative charge
ISE	Interstitial fluid
K	ATP sensitive K ⁺ channel
KC231	Intermediate conductance calcium activated K L channel 3.1
ICCaD. I	
VCCD	K^+ 2CI= cotronometer 2
KCCZ Kird 1	R, 2CF Collaisporter 2 Detective chapped with subweit type 4.1 of the inwordhy resti
NI[4.]	Folassium channel with subunit type 4.1 of the inwardiy recti-
14640	Tying potassium channel family
MCAO	Middle cerebral artery occlusion
MC12	Moncarboxylate transporter 2
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging f
NADT	Nicotine adenine dinucleotide, deprotonated
NADH	Nicotine adenine dinucleotide, protonated
NBCe1	Na ⁺ , 2 HCO3 ⁻ cotransporter 1
NHE	Na ⁺ /H ⁺ exchanger
NKCC1	Na+,K+, 2CI ⁻ cotransporter 1
ODN	oliodeoxynucleotides
Pi	Phosphate
R	Universal gas constant
siRNA	Small interfering RNA
SUR1-TPRM4	Sulfonylurea receptor 1-Transient receptor potential melasta-
	tin 4
Т	Absolute temperature
TBOA	DL-threo-b-Benzyloxyaspartic acid
TEER	Transendothelial electrical resistance
tPA	Tissue plasminogen activator
TRAM-34	1-[(2-chlorophenyl)diphenylmethyl]-1H- pyrazole [299]
TREK-1	A two-pore domain K ⁺ channel, K2p 2.1
TTX	Tetrodotoxin
TWIK-1	A two-pore domain K ⁺ channel., K2p 1.1
Λ٧	Cell membrane potential
m (0	Fraction of a porous solid occupied by the pores (or interstitial
т	spaces)

Acknowledgements

It was impractical to attempt to read every paper that mentions oedema following ischaemia. We have sought to cover those that report either key results or new aspects of interpretation. However, with so much to cover even with our restricted brief, it is inevitable that we will have missed some papers that should have been included. We apologize to the authors concerned.

Author contributions

SBH carried out the literature search and prepared the figures, except as otherwise acknowledged. SBH and MAB wrote the manuscript. Both authors have read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Funding

Serviced working space was provided by Jesus College, Cambridge. Library facilities, interlibrary loan subsidies and online access to journals were provided by the University of Cambridge. Neither Jesus College nor the University of Cambridge have had any role in determining the content of this review.

Availability of data and materials

No new and unpublished data are reported in this review. There is no data to share.

Declarations

Ethics approval and consent to participate Not applicable.

not applicable.

Consent for publication Not applicable.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Received: 1 February 2024 Accepted: 22 March 2024 Published online: 10 June 2024

References

- Hladky SB, Barrand MA. Regulation of brain fluid volumes and pressures: basic principles, intracranial hypertension, ventriculomegaly and hydrocephalus Fluids Barriers CNS 2024. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12987-024-00532-w. (in press)
- 2. Hladky SB, Barrand MA. The glymphatic hypothesis: the theory and the evidence. Fluids Barriers CNS. 2022;19:9.
- Hladky SB, Barrand MA. Elimination of substances from the brain parenchyma: efflux via perivascular pathways and via the blood–brain barrier. Fluids Barriers CNS. 2018;15:30.
- Hladky SB, Barrand MA. Fluid and ion transfer across the blood–brain and blood–cerebrospinal fluid barriers; a comparative account of mechanisms and roles. Fluids Barriers CNS. 2016;13:19.
- Hladky SB, Barrand MA. Mechanisms of fluid movement into, through and out of the brain: evaluation of the evidence. Fluids Barriers CNS. 2014;11:26.
- Klatzo I, Chui E, Fujiwara K. Aspects of the blood-brain barrier in brain edema. In: deVlieger M, deLange SA, Beks JW, editors. Brain edema. New York: John Wiley & Sons; 1981. p. 11–8.
- Betz AL, lannotti F, Hoff JT. Brain edema: a classification based on bloodbrain barrier integrity. Cerebrovasc Brain Metab Rev. 1989;1:133–54.
- Katayama Y, Tsubokawa T, Miyazaki S, Kawamata T, Yoshino A. 1990. Oedema fluid formation within contused brain tissue as a cause of medically uncontrollable elevation of intracranial pressure: the role of surgical therapy. In: Reulen H-J, Baethmann A, Fenstermacher J, Marmarou A, Spatz M. (Eds). Brain Edemafdjnm. Wien: Springer Verlag; 1990: 308-310. Acta Neurochirurgica. Supplementum (Wien) Volume 51].
- Kawamata T, Mori T, Sato S, Katayama Y. Tissue hyperosmolality and brain edema in cerebral contusion. Neurosurg Focus. 2007;22:E5.
- Kawamata T, Katayama Y. Cerebral contusion: a role model for lesion progression. In: Weber JT, Maas AIR, editors. Neurotrauma: new insights into pathology and treatment, vol. 161. Amsterdam, London: Elsevier; 2007. p. 235–41.
- Mino M, Fujimura M, Yoshida M, Sonobe S, Tominaga T. Application of neuro-endoscopic target aspiration of the necrotic core for cerebral contusion with delayed progression: technical note. Acta Neurochir. 2019;161:225–30.
- 12. Mokri B. The Monro-Kellie hypothesis: applications in CSF volume depletion. Neurology. 2001;56:1746–8.
- 13. Fishman RA. Brain edema. New Engl J Med. 1975;293:706–11.
- Bounds JV, Wiebers DO, Whisnant JP, Okazaki H. Mechanisms and timing of deaths from cerebral infarction. Stroke. 1981;12:474–7.

- Hacke W, Schwab S, Horn M, Spranger M, DeGeorgia M, vonKummer R. "Malignant" middle cerebral artery territory infarction—clinical course and prognostic signs. Arch Neurol. 1996;53:309–15.
- Wan Y, Holste KG, Hua Y, Keep RF, Xi G. Brain edema formation and therapy after intracerebral hemorrhage. Neurobiol Dis. 2023;176: 105948.
- Klatzo I. Presidental address. Neuropathological aspects of brain edema. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 1967;26:1–14.
- Simard JM, Kent TA, Chen M, Tarasov KV, Gerzanich V. Brain oedema in focal ischaemia: molecular pathophysiology and theoretical implications. Lancet Neurol. 2007;6:258–68.
- 19. Liang D, Bhatta S, Gerzanich V, Simard JM. Cytotoxic edema: mechanisms of pathological cell swelling. Neurosurg Focus. 2007;22:E2.
- Stokum JA, Kurland DB, Gerzanich V, Simard JM. Mechanisms of astrocyte-mediated cerebral edema. Neurochem Res. 2015;40:317–28.
- Stokum JA, Gerzanich V, Sheth KN, Kimberly WT, Simard JM. Emerging pharmacological treatments for cerebral edema: evidence from clinical studies. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol. 2020;60:291–309.
- 22. Marmarou A. A review of progress in understanding the pathophysiology and treatment of brain edema. Neurosurg Focus. 2007;22:E1.
- Jiang X, Andjelkovic A, Zhu L, Yang T, Bennett M, Chen J, Keep R, Shi Y. Blood-brain barrier dysfunction and recovery after ischemic stroke. Prog Neurobiol. 2018;163–164:144–71.
- 24. Love S, Perry A, Ironside JW, Dubdka H. Greenfield's neuropathology. 9th ed. Boca Raton: CRC Press; 2015.
- Thrane AS, Rangroo Thrane V, Nedergaard M. Drowning stars: reassessing the role of astrocytes in brain edema. Trends Neurosci. 2014;37:620–8.
- Mestre H, Du T, Sweeney A, Liu G, Samson A, Peng W, Mortensen K, Stæger F, Bork P, Bashford L, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid influx drives acute ischemic tissue swelling. Science. 2020;367:eaax7171.
- Hossmann KA. Development and resolution of ischemic brain swelling. In: Pappius HM, Feindel W, editors. Dynamics of cerebral edema. Berlin: Springer-Verlag; 1976. p. 219–27.
- 28. Safar P. Cerebral resuscitation after cardiac arrest: a review. Circulation 1986, 74:IV138–153.
- 29. Pulsinelli W. Pathophysiology of acute ischemic stroke. Lancet. 1992;339:533–6.
- Marmarou A, Fatouros PP, Barzó P, Portella G, Yoshihara M, Tsuji O, Yamamoto T, Laine F, Signoretti S, Ward JD, et al. Contribution of edema and cerebral blood volume to traumatic brain swelling in head-injured patients. J Neurosurg. 2000;93:183–93.
- Lassen NA. Cerebral blood flow and oxygen consumption in man. Physiol Rev. 1959;39:183–238.
- Leigh R, Knutsson L, Zhou J, van Zijl PCM. Imaging the physiological evolution of the ischemic penumbra in acute ischemic stroke. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2018;38:1500–16.
- Astrup J, Symon L, Branston NM, Lassen NA. Cortical evoked potential and extracellular K+ and H+ at critical levels of brain ischemia. Stroke. 1977;8:51–7.
- Branston NM, Strong AJ, Symon L. Extracellular potassium activity, evoked potential and tissue blood flow: relationships during progressive ischaemia in baboon cerebral cortex. J Neurol Sci. 1977;32:305–21.
- Symon L, Branston NM, Strong AJ, Hope TD. The concepts of thresholds of ischaemia in relation to brain structure and function. J Clin Pathol. 1977;3–11:149–54.
- Jones TH, Morawetz RB, Crowell RM, Marcoux FW, FitzGibbon SJ, DeGirolami U, Ojemann RG. Thresholds of focal cerebral ischemia in awake monkeys. J Neurosurg. 1981;54:773–82.
- Astrup J, Siesjö BK, Symon L. Thresholds in cerebral ischemia—the ischemic penumbra. Stroke. 1981;12:723–5.
- Hossmann KA. Viability thresholds and the penumbra of focal ischemia. Ann Neurol. 1994;36:557–65.
- Baron J-C. Perfusion thresholds in human cerebral ischemia: historical perspective and therapeutic implications. Cerebrovasc Dis. 2001;11:2–8.
- 40. Dirnagl U, ladecola C, Moskowitz MA. Pathobiology of ischaemic stroke: an integrated view. Trends Neurosci. 1999;22:391–7.
- Hossmann K-A. The two pathophysiologies of focal brain ischemia: implications for translational stroke research. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2012;32:1310–6.

- 42. Hakim AM. The cerebral ischemic penumbra. Can J Neurol Sci. 1987;14:557–9.
- 43. Somjen GG. lons in the brain. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2004.
- Steffensen AB, Sword J, Croom D, Kirov SA, MacAulay N. Chloride cotransporters as a molecular mechanism underlying spreading depolarization-induced dendritic beading. J Neurosci. 2015;35:12172–87.
- Rungta Ravi L, Choi Hyun B, Tyson John R, Malik A, Dissing-Olesen L, Lin Paulo JC, Cain Stuart M, Cullis Pieter R, Snutch Terrance P, MacVicar Brian A. The cellular mechanisms of neuronal swelling underlying cytotoxic edema. Cell. 2015;161:610–21.
- Delpire E, Gagnon KB. Na(+) -K(+) -2Cl(-) cotransporter (NKCC) physiological function in nonpolarized cells and transporting epithelia. Compr Physiol. 2018;8:871–901.
- 47. Rossi DJ, Oshima T, Attwell D. Glutamate release in severe brain ischaemia is mainly by reversed uptake. Nature. 2000;403:316–21.
- Takano T, Tian G-F, Peng W, Lou N, Lovatt D, Hansen AJ, Kasischke KA, Nedergaard M. Cortical spreading depression causes and coincides with tissue hypoxia. Nat Neurosci. 2007;10:754–62.
- Andrew RD, Labron MW, Boehnke SE, Carnduff L, Kirov SA. Physiological evidence that pyramidal neurons lack functional water channels. Cereb Cortex. 2007;17:787–802.
- Siesjo BK, Kristian T, Katsura K. Overview of bioenergetic failure and metabolic cascades in brain ischemia. In: Ginsberg MD, Bogousslavsky J, editors. Cerebrovascular disease : pathophysiology, diagnosis, and management. Malden, MA: Blackwell Science; 1998. p. 1–13.
- Nedergaard M, Astrup J. Infarct rim: effect of hyperglycemia on direct current potential and [14C]2-deoxyglucose phosphorylation. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 1986;6:607–15.
- Nedergaard M. Mechanisms of brain-damage in focal cerebralischemia. Acta Neurol Scand. 1988;77:81–101.
- Back T, Kohno K, Hossmann KA. Cortical negative dc deflections following middle cerebral artery occlusion and KCI-induced spreading depression: effect on blood flow, tissue oxygenation, and electroencephalogram. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 1994;14:12–9.
- Hossmann KA. Periinfarct depolarizations. Cerebrovasc Brain Metab Rev. 1996;8:195–208.
- Dohmen C, Sakowitz OW, Fabricius M, Bosche B, Reithmeier T, Ernestus R-I, Brinker G, Dreier JP, Woitzik J, Strong AJ, et al. Spreading depolarizations occur in human ischemic stroke with high incidence. Ann Neurol. 2008;63:720–8.
- Dreier JP, Lemale CL, Kola V, Friedman A, Schoknecht K. Spreading depolarization is not an epiphenomenon but the principal mechanism of the cytotoxic edema in various gray matter structures of the brain during stroke. Neuropharmacology. 2018;134:189–207.
- 57. Somjen GG. Mechanisms of spreading depression and hypoxic spreading depression-like depolarization. Physiol Rev. 2001;81:1065–96.
- Lauritzen M, Dreier JP, Fabricius M, Hartings JA, Graf R, Strong AJ. Clinical relevance of cortical spreading depression in neurological disorders: migraine, malignant stroke, subarachnoid and intracranial hemorrhage, and traumatic brain injury. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2011;31:17–35.
- Zandt B-J, ten Haken B, van Putten MJAM. Diffusing substances during spreading depolarization: analytical expressions for propagation speed, triggering, and concentration time courses. J Neurosci. 2013;33:5915.
- 60. Ayata C, Lauritzen M. Spreading depression, spreading depolarizations, and the cerebral vasculature. Physiol Rev. 2015;95:953–93.
- 61. Gjedde A, Hansen AJ, Quistorff B. Blood-brain glucose transfer in spreading depression. J Neurochem. 1981;37:807–12.
- Mayevsky A, Weiss HR. Cerebral blood flow and oxygen consumption in cortical spreading depression. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 1991;11:829–36.
- 63. Young W, Rappaport ZH, Chalif DJ, Flamm ES. Regional brain sodium, potassium, and water changes in the rat middle cerebral artery occlusion model of ischemia. Stroke. 1987;18:751–9.
- Somjen GG, Kager H, Wadman WJ. Computer simulations of neuron-glia interactions mediated by ion flux. J Comput Neurosci. 2008;25:349–65.
- Dallerac G, Chever O, Rouach N. How do astrocytes shape synaptic transmission? Insights from electrophysiology. Front Cell Neurosci. 2013. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2013.00159.
- Nwaobi SE, Cuddapah VA, Patterson KC, Randolph AC, Olsen ML. The role of glial-specific Kir4.1 in normal and pathological states of the CNS. Acta Neuropathol. 2016;132:1–21.

- 67. Seifert G, Henneberger C, Steinhäuser C. Diversity of astrocyte potassium channels: An update. Brain Res Bull. 2018;136:26–36.
- Verkhratsky A, Nedergaard M. Physiology of Astroglia. Physiol Rev. 2018;98:239–389.
- Ballanyi K, Grafe P, ten Bruggencate G. Ion activities and potassium uptake mechanisms of glial cells in guinea-pig olfactory cortex slices. J Physiol (Lond). 1987;382:159–74.
- Ballanyi K, Branchereau P, Champagnat J, Fortin G, Velluti J. Extracellular potassium, glial and neuronal potentials in the solitary complex of rat brainstem slices. Brain Res. 1993;607:99–107.
- Leão AAP. Spreading depression of activity in the cerebral cortex. J Neurophysiol. 1944;7:359–90.
- Nedergaard M, Hansen AJ. Characterization of cortical depolarizations evoked in focal cerebral ischemia. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 1993;13:568–74.
- Takano K, Latour LL, Formato JE, Carano RA, Helmer KG, Hasegawa Y, Sotak CH, Fisher M. The role of spreading depression in focal ischemia evaluated by diffusion mapping. Ann Neurol. 1996;39:308–18.
- Walz W. Role of astrocytes in the spreading depression signal between ischemic core and penumbra. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 1997;21:135–42.
- Chuquet J, Hollender L, Nimchinsky EA. High-resolution in vivo imaging of the neurovascular unit during spreading depression. J Neurosci. 2007;27:4036–44.
- Strong AJ, Anderson PJ, Watts HR, Virley DJ, Lloyd A, Irving EA, Nagafuji T, Ninomiya M, Nakamura H, Dunn AK, Graf R. Peri-infarct depolarizations lead to loss of perfusion in ischaemic gyrencephalic cerebral cortex. Brain. 2007;130:995–1008.
- Dreier JP. The role of spreading depression, spreading depolarization and spreading ischemia in neurological disease. Nat Med. 2011;17:439–47.
- Dreier Jens P, Reiffurth C. The stroke-migraine depolarization continuum. Neuron. 2015;86:902–22.
- Major S, Petzold GC, Reiffurth C, Windmuller O, Foddis M, Lindauer U, Kang E-J, Dreier JP. A role of the sodium pump in spreading ischemia in rats. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2017;37:1687–705.
- Mies G, Iijima T, Hossmann KA. Correlation between peri-infarct DC shifts and ischaemic neuronal damage in rat. NeuroReport. 1993;4:709–11.
- Hossmann K-A. Pathophysiological basis of translational stroke research. Folia Neuropathol. 2009;47:213–27.
- Capo-Rangel G, Gerardo-Giorda L, Somersalo E, Calvetti D. Metabolism plays a central role in the cortical spreading depression: Evidence from a mathematical model. J Theoret Biol. 2020. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jtbi.2019.110093.
- Florence CM, Baillie LD, Mulligan SJ. Dynamic volume changes in astrocytes are an intrinsic phenomenon mediated by bicarbonate ion flux. PLoS ONE. 2012;7: e51124.
- Ransom BR, Goldring S. Ionic determinants of membrane potential of cells presumed to be glia in cerebral cortex of cat. J Neurophysiol. 1973;36:855–68.
- 85. Walz W. Chloride/anion channels in glial cell membranes. Glia. 2002;40:1–10.
- Ballanyi K. Modulation of glial potassium, sodium and chloride activities by the extracellular milieu. In: Kettenmann H, Ransom BR, editors. Neuroglia. 1st ed. New York: Oxford University Press; 1995. p. 289–98.
- Woo J, Han Y-E, Koh W, Won J, Park MG, An H, Lee CJ. Pharmacological dissection of intrinsic optical signal reveals a functional coupling between synaptic activity and astrocytic volume transient. Exp Neurobiol. 2019;28:30–42.
- Elorza-Vidal X, Gaitán-Peñas H, Estévez R. Chloride channels in astrocytes: structure, roles in brain homeostasis and implications in disease. Int J Mol Sci. 2019;20:1034.
- Woo J, Jang MW, Lee J, Koh W, Mikoshiba K, Lee CJ. The molecular mechanism of synaptic activity-induced astrocytic volume transient. J Physiol. 2020. https://doi.org/10.1113/JP279741.
- Yan YP, Dempsey RJ, Sun DD. Expression of Na+-K+-Cl- cotransporter in rat brain during development and its localization in mature astrocytes. Brain Res. 2001;911:43–55.
- Walz W. Accumulation of intracellular bicarbonate accounts for the missing anion during potassium-evoked swelling of cortical type-1-like astrocytes. Ann NY Acad Sci. 1991;633:589–91.

- 92. Pappas CA, Ransom BR. Depolarization-induced alkalinization (DIA) in rat hippocampal astrocytes. J Neurophysiol. 1994;72:2816–26.
- Rose CR, Ransom BR. Intracellular sodium homeostasis in rat hippocampal astrocytes. J Physiol. 1996;491:291–305.
- Theparambil SM, Ruminot I, Schneider H-P, Shull GE, Deitmer JW. The electrogenic sodium bicarbonate cotransporter nbce1 is a high-affinity bicarbonate carrier in cortical astrocytes. J Neurosci. 2014;34:1148–57.
- Larsen BR, MacAulay N. Activity-dependent astrocyte swelling is mediated by pH-regulating mechanisms. Glia. 2017;65:1668–81.
- MacAulay N. Molecular mechanisms of K(+) clearance and extracellular space shrinkage-Glia cells as the stars. Glia. 2020. https://doi.org/10. 1002/glia.23824.
- Risher WC, Andrew RD, Kirov SA. Real-time passive volume responses of astrocytes to acute osmotic and ischemic stress in cortical slices and in vivo revealed by two-photon microscopy. Glia. 2009;57:207–21.
- Haj-Yasein NN, Jensen V, Vindedal GF, Gundersen GA, Klungland A, Ottersen OP, Hvalby O, Nagelhus EA. Evidence that compromised K+ spatial buffering contributes to the epileptogenic effect of mutations in the human Kir4.1 gene (KCNJ10). Glia. 2011;59:1635–42.
- Gardner-Medwin AR. Membrane transport and solute migration affecting the brain cell microenvironment. Neurosci Res Program Bull. 1980;18:208–26.
- 100. Gardner-Medwin AR. A new framework for assessment of potassiumbuffering mechanisms. Ann NY Acad Sci. 1986;481:287–302.
- Hossmann KA. Cortical steady potential, impedance and excitability changes during and after total ischemia of cat brain. Exp Neurol. 1971;32:163–75.
- Schuier FJ, Hossmann KA. Experimental brain infarcts in cats. II. Ischemic brain edema. Stroke. 1980;11:593–601.
- Hansen AJ, Olsen CE. Brain extracellular space during spreading depression and ischemia. Acta Physiol Scand. 1980;108:355–65.
- Phillips JM, Nicholson C. Anion permeability in spreading depression investigated with ion-sensitive microelectrodes. Brain Res. 1979;173:567–71.
- Pérez-Pinzón MA, Tao L, Nicholson C. Extracellular potassium, volume fraction, and tortuosity in rat hippocampal CA1, CA3, and cortical slices during ischemia. J Neurophysiol. 1995;74:565–73.
- 106. van der Toorn A, Syková É, Dijkhuizen RM, Vorísek I, Vargová L, Skobisová E, van Lookeren CM, Reese T, Nicolay K. Dynamic changes in water ADC, energy metabolism, extracellular space volume, and tortuosity in neonatal rat brain during global ischemia. Magn Reson Med. 1996;36:52–60.
- Zhao H-H, Du H, Cai Y, Liu C, Xie Z, Chen KC. Time-resolved quantification of the dynamic extracellular space in the brain: study of cortical spreading depression. J Neurophysiol. 2019;121:1735–47.
- Moseley ME, Cohen Y, Mintorovitch J, Chileuitt L, Shimizu H, Kucharczyk J, Wendland MF, Weinstein PR. Early detection of regional cerebral ischemia in cats: comparison of diffusion- and T2-weighted MRI and spectroscopy. Magn Reson Med. 1990;14:330–46.
- Gyngell ML, Back T, Hoehn-Berlage M, Kohno K, Hossmann K-A. Transient cell depolarization after permanent middle cerebral artery occlusion: an observation by diffusion-weighted MRI and localized 1H-MRS. Magn Reson Med. 1994;31:337–41.
- 110. Hossmann KA, Fischer M, Bockhorst K, Hoehn-Berlage M. NMR imaging of the apparent diffusion coefficient (ADC) for the evaluation of metabolic suppression and recovery after prolonged cerebral ischemia. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 1994;14:723–31.
- 111. Schlaug G, Siewert B, Benfield A, Edelman RR, Warach S. Time course of the apparent diffusion coefficient (ADC) abnormality in human stroke. Neurology. 1997;49:113.
- Hossmann K-A. The pathophysiology of ischemic brain swelling. In: Inaba Y, Klatzo I, Spatz M, editors. Brain edema VIth international symposium. Berlin: Springer Verlag; 1985. p. 368–84.
- Hatashita S, Hoff JT, Salamat SM. Ischemic brain edema and the osmotic gradient between blood and brain. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 1988;8:552–9.
- 114. Hossmann KA. The pathophysiology of experimental brain edema. Neurosurg Rev. 1989;12:263–80.
- Thrane AS, Rangroo Thrane V, Plog BA, Nedergaard M. Filtering the muddled waters of brain edema. Trends Neurosci. 2015;38:333–5.

- 116. Mestre H, Mori Y, Nedergaard M. The brain's glymphatic system: current controversies. Trends Neurosci. 2020;43:458.
- 117. Weed LH. Studies on cerebro-spinal fluid. IV. The dual source of cerebrospinal fluid. J Med Res. 1914;26:93–113.
- Ma Q, Ries M, Decker Y, Muller A, Riner C, Bucker A, Fassbender K, Detmar M, Proulx ST. Rapid lymphatic efflux limits cerebrospinal fluid flow to the brain. Acta Neuropathol. 2019;137:151–65.
- 119. Gaberel T, Gakuba C, Goulay R, Martinez De Lizarrondo S, Hanouz J-L, Emery E, Touze E, Vivien D, Gauberti M. Impaired glymphatic perfusion after strokes revealed by contrast-enhanced MRI: a new target for fibrinolysis? Stroke. 2014;45:3092–6.
- Schain AJ, Melo-Carrillo A, Strassman AM, Burstein R. Cortical spreading depression closes paravascular space and impairs glymphatic flow: Implications for migraine headache. J Neurosci. 2017;37:2904–15.
- Rosic B, Dukefoss DB, Abjorsbraten KS, Tang W, Jensen V, Ottersen OP, Enger R, Nagelhus EA. Aquaporin-4-independent volume dynamics of astroglial endfeet during cortical spreading depression. Glia. 2019;67:1113–21.
- 122. Ishimaru S, Okada Y, Mies G, Hossmann KA. Relationship between blood flow and blood-brain barrier permeability of sodium and albumin in focal ischaemia of rats: a triple tracer autoradiographic study. Acta Neurochir. 1993;120:72–80.
- Betz AL, Keep RF, Beer ME, Ren XD. Blood-brain-barrier permeability and brain concentration of sodium, potassium, and chloride during focal ischemia. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 1994;14:29–37.
- 124. Crone C. The blood-brain barrier as a tight epithelium: where is information lacking? Ann NY Acad Sci. 1986;481:174–85.
- 125. Lo WD, Betz AL, Schielke GP, Hoff JT. Transport of sodium from blood to brain in ischemic brain edema. Stroke. 1987;18:150–7.
- 126. Kety SS, Schmidt CF. The nitrous oxide method for the quantitative determination of cerebral blood flow in man: theory, procedure and normal values. J Clin Invest. 1948;27:476–83.
- 127. Betz AL. Alterations in cerebral endothelial cell function in ischemia. In: Siesjö BK, Wieloch T, editors. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of ischemic brain damage, vol. 71. Philadelphia: Lippincott-Raven Publishers; 1996. p. 301–13.
- Shigeno T, Asano T, Mima T, Takakura K. Effect of enhanced capillary activity on the blood-brain barrier during focal cerebral-ischemia in cats. Stroke. 1989;20:1260–6.
- 129. Schielke GP, Moises HC, Betz AL. Blood to brain sodium transport and interstitial fluid potassium concentration during early focal ischemia in the rat. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 1991;11:466–71.
- Bradbury MW, Kleeman CR. Stability of potassium content of cerebrospinal fluid and brain. Am J Physiol. 1967;213:519–28.
- Bradbury MW, Stulcova B. Efflux mechanism contributing to the stability of the potassium concentration in cerebrospinal fluid. J Physiol. 1970;208:415–30.
- 132. Bradbury MW, Segal MB, Wilson J. Transport of potassium at the bloodbrain barrier. J Physiol (Lond). 1972;221:617–32.
- 133. Katzman R. Maintenance of a constant brain extracellular potassium. Fed Proc. 1976;35:1244–7.
- 134. Goldstein GW. Relation of potassium transport to oxidative metabolism in isolated brain capillaries. J Physiol (Lond). 1979;286:185–95.
- Schielke GP, Moises HC, Betz AL. Potassium activation of the Na, K-pump in isolated brain microvessels and synaptosomes. Brain Res. 1990;524:291–6.
- 136. Keep RF, Ennis SR, Beer ME, Betz AL. Developmental changes in blood-brain barrier potassium permeability in the rat: Relation to brain growth. J Physiol. 1995;488:439–48.
- O'Donnell ME. Blood-brain barrier Na transporters in ischemic stroke. In: Davis TP, editor. Pharmacology of the blood brain barrier: targeting CNS disorders, vol. 71. London: Academic Press, Elsevier; 2014. p. 113–46.
- O'Donnell ME, Tran L, Lam TI, Liu XB, Anderson SE. Bumetanide inhibition of the blood-brain barrier Na-K-Cl cotransporter reduces edema formation in the rat middle cerebral artery occlusion model of stroke. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2004;24:1046–56.
- 139. Lykke K, Assentoft M, Horlyck S, Helms HCC, Stoica A, Toft-Bertelsen TL, Tritsaris K, Vilhardt F, Brodin B, MacAulay N. Evaluating the involvement of cerebral microvascular endothelial Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase and Na⁺-K⁺-2CI⁻ co-transporter in electrolyte fluxes in an in vitro blood-brain barrier model of dehydration. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2017;39:497–512.

- 140. Nicola PA, Taylor CJ, Wang S, Barrand MA, Hladky SB. Transport activities involved in intracellular pH recovery following acid and alkali challenges in rat brain microvascular endothelial cells. Pflugers Archiv Eur J Physiol. 2008;456:801–12.
- 141. Lam TI, Wise PM, O'Donnell ME. Cerebral microvascular endothelial cell Na/H exchange: evidence for the presence of NHE1 and NHE2 isoforms and regulation by arginine vasopressin. Am J Physiol. 2009;297:C278–89.
- Mokgokong R, Wang S, Taylor CJ, Barrand MA, Hladky SB. Ion transporters in brain endothelial cells that contribute to formation of brain interstitial fluid. Pflügers Arch. 2014;466:887–901.
- Taylor CJ, Nicola PA, Wang S, Barrand MA, Hladky SB. Transporters involved in the regulation of intracellular pH (pH_i) in primary cultured rat brain endothelial cells. J Physiol. 2006;576:769–85.
- 144. Bradbury MWB. The concept of a blood-brain barrier. Chichester: Wiley; 1979.
- Smith QR, Rapoport SI. Cerebrovascular permeability coefficients to sodium, potassium, and chloride. J Neurochem. 1986;46:1732–42.
- 146. O'Donnell ME, Wulff H, Chen Y-J. Blood-brain barrier mechanisms of edema formation: the role of ion transporters and channels. In: Badaut J, Plesnila N, editors. Brain edema. San Diego: Academic Press; 2017. p. 129–49.
- 147. O'Donnell ME, Chen Y-J, Lam TI, Taylor KC, Walton JH, Anderson SE. Intravenous HOE-642 reduces brain edema and Na uptake in the rat permanent middle cerebral artery occlusion model of stroke: evidence for participation of the blood-brain barrier Na/H exchanger. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2013;33:225–34.
- 148. Chen Y-J, Raman G, Bodendiek S, O'Donnell ME, Wulff H. The KCa3.1 blocker TRAM-34 reduces infarction and neurological deficit in a rat model of ischemia/reperfusion stroke. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2011;31:2363–74.
- Chen H, Luo J, Kintner DB, Shull GE, Sun D. Na(+)-dependent chloride transporter (NKCC1)-null mice exhibit less gray and white matter damage after focal cerebral ischemia. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2005;25:54–66.
- Hoyer J, Popp R, Meyer J, Galla HJ, Gogelein H. Angiotensin-II, vasopressin and GTP gamma-S inhibit inward- rectifying-K⁺ channels in porcine cerebral capillary endothelial-cells. J Membr Biol. 1991;123:55–62.
- 151. Popp R, Hoyer J, Meyer J, Galla HJ, Gogelein H. Stretch-activated nonselective cation channels in the antiluminal membrane of porcine cerebral capillaries. J Physiol. 1992;454:435–49.
- Millar ID, Wang S, Brown PD, Barrand MA, Hladky SB. Kv1 and Kir2 potassium channels are expressed in rat brain endothelial cells. Pflügers Archiv Eur J Physiol. 2008;456:379–91.
- 153. Chen Y-J, Wallace BK, Yuen N, Jenkins DP, Wulff H, O'Donnell ME. Bloodbrain barrier Kca3.1 channels: evidence for a role in brain Na uptake and edema in ischemic stroke. Stroke. 2015;46:237–44.
- Hossmann KA, Takagi S. Osmolality of brain in cerebral ischemia. Exp Neurol. 1976;51:124–31.
- Siesjö BK. Acidosis and ischemic brain damage. Neurochem Pathol. 1988;9:31–88.
- 156. Yan YP, Dempsey RJ, Sun DD. Na+-K+-Cl- cotransporter in rat focal cerebral ischemia. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2001;21:711–21.
- Yan YP, Dempsey RJ, Flemmer A, Forbush B, Sun DD. Inhibition of Na+-K+-CI- cotransporter during focal cerebral ischemia decreases edema and neuronal damage. Brain Res. 2003;961:22–31.
- 158. Chen H, Sun D. The role of Na-K-Cl co-transporter in cerebral ischemia. Neurol Res. 2005;27:280–6.
- 159. Pedersen SF, O'Donnell ME, Anderson SE, Cala PM. Physiology and pathophysiology of Na+/H+ exchange and Na+-K+-2Cl(-) cotransport in the heart, brain, and blood. Am J Physiol-Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2006;291:R1–25.
- 160. Tollner K, Brandt C, Romermann K, Loscher W. The organic anion transport inhibitor probenecid increases brain concentrations of the NKCC1 inhibitor bumetanide. Eur J Pharmacol. 2015;746:167–73.
- Donovan MD, Schellekens H, Boylan GB, Cryan JF, Griffin BT. In vitro bidirectional permeability studies identify pharmacokinetic limitations of NKCC1 inhibitor bumetanide. Eur J Pharmacol. 2016;770:117–25.
- Manley GT, Fujimura M, Ma T, Noshita N, Filiz F, Bollen AW, Chan P, Verkman AS. Aquaporin-4 deletion in mice reduces brain edema after acute water intoxication and ischemic stroke. Nat Med. 2000;6:159–63.

- 163. Vajda Z, Pedersen M, Füchtbauer E-M, Wertz K, Stødkilde-Jørgensen H, Sulyok E, Dóczi T, Neely JD, Agre P, Frøkiær J, Nielsen S. Delayed onset of brain edema and mislocalization of aquaporin-4 in dystrophin-null transgenic mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2002;99:13131.
- 164. Zeynalov E, Chen C-H, Froehner SC, Adams ME, Ottersen OP, Amiry-Moghaddam M, Bhardwaj A. The perivascular pool of aquaporin-4 mediates the effect of osmotherapy in postischemic cerebral edema*. Crit Care Med. 2008;36:2634–40.
- Papadopoulos MC, Manley GT, Krishna S, Verkman AS. Aquaporin-4 facilitates reabsorption of excess fluid in vasogenic brain edema. FASEB J. 2004;18:fj.04-172fje.
- 166. Monai H, Wang X, Yahagi K, Lou N, Mestre H, Xu Q, Abe Y, Yasui M, Iwai Y, Nedergaard M, Hirase H. Adrenergic receptor antagonism induces neuroprotection and facilitates recovery from acute ischemic stroke. Proc National Acad Sci USA. 2019;116:11010–9.
- Monai H, Koketsu S, Shinohara Y, Ueki T, Kusk P, Hauglund NL, Samson AJ, Nedergaard M, Hirase H. Adrenergic inhibition facilitates normalization of extracellular potassium after cortical spreading depolarization. Sci Rep. 2021;11:8150.
- Mestre H, Hablitz LM, Xavier AL, Feng W, Zou W, Pu T, Monai H, Murlidharan G, Castellanos Rivera RM, Simon MJ, et al. Aquaporin-4-dependent glymphatic solute transport in the rodent brain. eLife. 2018;7:e40070.
- Iliff J, Simon M. CrossTalk proposal: the glymphatic system supports convective exchange of cerebrospinal fluid and brain interstitial fluid that is mediated by perivascular aquaporin-4. J Physiol. 2019;598:4417–9.
- 170. Smith AJ, Verkman AS. CrossTalk opposing view: going against the flow: interstitial solute transport in brain is diffusive and aquaporin-4 independent. J Physiol. 2019;597:4421–4.
- 171. Smith A, Akdemir G, Wadhwa M, Song D, Verkman A. Application of fluorescent dextrans to the brain surface under constant pressure reveals AQP4-independent solute uptake. J Gen Physiol. 2021;153: e202112898.
- 172. Kitchen P, Salman MM, Halsey AM, Clarke-Bland C, MacDonald JA, Ishida H, Vogel HJ, Almutiri S, Logan A, Kreida S, et al. Targeting aquaporin-4 subcellular localization to treat central nervous system edema. Cell. 2020;181:784-799.e719.
- 173. Stokum JA, Shim B, Negoita S, Tsymbalyuk N, Tsymbalyuk O, Ivanova S, Keledjian K, Bryan J, Blaustein MP, Jha RM, et al. Cation flux through SUR1-TRPM4 and NCX1 in astrocyte endfeet induces water influx through AQP4 and brain swelling after ischemic stroke. Sci Signal. 2023;16:6364.
- 174. Ayata C, Ropper AH. Ischaemic brain oedema. J Clin Neurosci. 2002;9:113–24.
- 175. Gotoh O, Asano T, Koide T, Takakura K. Ischemic brain edema following occlusion of the middle cerebral artery in the rat I: the time courses of the brain water, sodium and potassium contents and blood-brain barrier permeability to 125I-albumin. Stroke. 1985;16:101–9.
- Menzies SA, Betz AL, Hoff JT. Contributions of ions and albumin to the formation and resolution of ischemic brain edema. J Neurosurg. 1993;78:257–66.
- 177. Kuroiwa T, Cahn R, Juhler M, Goping G, Campbell G, Klatzo I. Role of extracellular proteins in the dynamics of vasogenic brain edema. Acta Neuropathol. 1985;66:3–11.
- 178. Durward QJ, Del Maestro RF, Amacher AL, Farrar JK. The influence of systemic arterial pressure and intracranial pressure on the development of cerebral vasogenic edema. J Neurosurg. 1983;59:803–9.
- 179. Simard JM, Chen M, Tarasov KV, Bhatta S, Ivanova S, Melnitchenko L, Tsymbalyuk N, West GA, Gerzanich V. Newly expressed SUR1-regulated NCCa-ATP channel mediates cerebral edema after ischemic stroke. Nat Med. 2006;12:433–40.
- Woo SK, Kwon MS, Geng Z, Chen Z, Ivanov A, Bhatta S, Gerzanich V, Simard JM. Sequential activation of hypoxia-inducible factor 1 and specificity protein 1 is required for hypoxia-induced transcriptional stimulation of Abcc8. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2011;32:525–36.
- Mehta RI, Tosun C, Ivanova S, Tsymbalyuk N, Famakin BM, Kwon MS, Castellani RJ, Gerzanich V, Simard JM. Sur1-Trpm4 cation channel expression in human cerebral infarcts. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2015;74:835–49.

- 182. Stokum JA, Kwon MS, Woo SK, Tsymbalyuk O, Vennekens R, Gerzanich V, Simard JM. SUR1-TRPM4 and AQP4 form a heteromultimeric complex that amplifies ion/water osmotic coupling and drives astrocyte swelling. Glia. 2018;66:108–25.
- Simard JM, Yurovsky V, Tsymbalyuk N, Melnichenko L, Ivanova S, Gerzanich V. Protective effect of delayed treatment with low-dose glibenclamide in three models of ischemic stroke. Stroke. 2009;40:604–9.
- Simard JM, Sheth KN, Kimberly WT, Stern BJ, del Zoppo GJ, Jacobson S, Gerzanich V. Glibenclamide in cerebral ischemia and stroke. Neurocrit Care. 2014;20:319–33.
- 185. Stokum JA, Gerzanich V, Simard JM. Molecular pathophysiology of cerebral edema. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2016;36:513–38.
- Woo SK, Tsymbalyuk N, Tsymbalyuk O, Ivanova S, Gerzanich V, Simard JM. SUR1-TRPM4 channels, not K(ATP), mediate brain swelling following cerebral ischemia. Neurosci Lett. 2020;718: 134729.
- Simard JM, Woo SK, Tsymbalyuk N, Voloshyn O, Yurovsky V, Ivanova S, Lee R, Gerzanich V. Glibenclamide-10-h treatment window in a clinically relevant model of stroke. Trans Stroke Res. 2012;3:286–95.
- Simard JM, Geng Z, Silver FL, Sheth KN, Kimberly WT, Stern BJ, Colucci M, Gerzanich V. Does inhibiting Sur1 complement rt-PA in cerebral ischemia? Ann NY Acad Sci. 2012;1268:95–107.
- King ZA, Sheth KN, Kimberly WT, Simard JM. Profile of intravenous glyburide for the prevention of cerebral edema following large hemispheric infarction: evidence to date. Drug Des Dev Ther. 2018;12:2539–52.
- Strazielle N, Ghersi-Egea JF. Physiology of blood-brain interfaces in relation to brain disposition of small compounds and macromolecules. Mol Pharm. 2013;10:1473–91.
- 191. Tietz S, Engelhardt B. Brain barriers: crosstalk between complex tight junctions and adherens junctions. J Cell Biol. 2015;209:493–506.
- Huang ZG, Xue D, Preston E, Karbalai H, Buchan AM. Biphasic opening of the blood-brain barrier following transient focal ischemia: effects of hypothermia. Can J Neurol Sci. 1999;26:298–304.
- Nitta T, Hata M, Gotoh S, Seo Y, Sasaki H, Hashimoto N, Furuse M, Tsukita S. Size-selective loosening of the blood-brain barrier in claudin-5-deficient mice. J Cell Biol. 2003;161:653–60.
- 194. Sandoval KE, Witt KA. Blood-brain barrier tight junction permeability and ischemic stroke. Neurobiol Dis. 2008;32:200–19.
- 195. Knowland D, Arac A, Sekiguchi KJ, Hsu M, Lutz SE, Perrino J, Steinberg GK, Barres BA, Nimmerjahn A, Agalliu D. Stepwise recruitment of transcellular and paracellular pathways underlies blood-brain barrier breakdown in stroke. Neuron. 2014;82:603–17.
- Durukan A, Marinkovic I, Strbian D, Pitkonen M, Pedrono E, Soinne L, Abo-Ramadan U, Tatlisumak T. Post-ischemic blood–brain barrier leakage in rats: one-week follow-up by MRI. Brain Res. 2009;1280:158–65.
- 197. Stamatovic SM, Keep RF, Wang MM, Jankovic I, Andjelkovic AV. Caveolae-mediated internalization of occludin and claudin-5 during CCL2-induced tight junction remodeling in brain endothelial cells. J Biol Chem. 2009;284:19053–66.
- 198. Kriz J. Inflammation in ischemic brain injury: timing is important. Critcal Reviews in Neurobiology. 2006;18:145–57.
- Lakhan S, Kirchgessner A, Tepper D, Aidan L. Matrix metalloproteinases and blood-brain barrier disruption in acute ischemic stroke. Front Neurol. 2013;4:32.
- 200. Schoknecht K, David Y, Heinemann U. The blood–brain barrier—gatekeeper to neuronal homeostasis: clinical implications in the setting of stroke. Semin Cell Dev Biol. 2015;38:35–42.
- 201. Nagy Z, Nardai S. Cerebral ischemia/repefusion injury: from bench space to bedside. Brain Res Bull. 2017;134:30–7.
- Jickling GC, Liu D, Stamova B, Ander BP, Zhan X, Lu A, Sharp FR. Hemorrhagic transformation after ischemic stroke in animals and humans. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2014;34:185–99.
- Greene C, Hanley N, Campbell M. Claudin-5: gatekeeper of neurological function. Fluids Barriers CNS. 2019;16:3.
- Stamatovic SM, Phillips CM, Martinez-Revollar G, Keep RF, Andjelkovic AV. Involvement of epigenetic mechanisms and non-coding RNAs in blood-brain barrier and neurovascular unit injury and recovery after stroke. Front Neurosci. 2019;13:864.

- 205. Zhang W, Zhu L, An C, Wang R, Yang L, Yu W, Li P, Gao Y. The blood brain barrier in cerebral ischemic injury – Disruption and repair. Brain Hemorrhages. 2020;1:34–53.
- Siesjö BK, Katsura K, Zhao Q, Folbergrova J, Pahlmark K, Siesjö P, Smith ML. Mechanisms of secondary brain damage in global and focal ischemia: a speculative synthesis. J Neurotrauma. 1995;12:943–56.
- 207. Lipton P. Ischemic cell death in brain neurons. Physiol Rev. 1999;79:1431–568.
- Wang Q, Yang F, Duo K, Liu Y, Yu J, Wu Q, Cai Z. The role of necroptosis in cerebral ischemic stroke. Mol Neurobiol. 2023. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s12035-023-03728-7.
- 209. Klatzo I, Suzuki R, Orzi F, Schuier F, Nitsch C. Pathomechanisms of ischemic brain edema. In: Go KG, Baethmann A, editors. Recent progress in the study and therapy of brain edema. New York: Plenum Press; 1984. p. 1–10.
- Kuroiwa T, Shibutani M, Okeda R. Blood-brain barrier disruption and exacerbation of ischemic brain edema after restoration of blood flow in experimental focal cerebral ischemia. Acta Neuropathol. 1988;76:62–70.
- Liu J, Weaver J, Jin X, Zhang Y, Xu J, Liu KJ, Li W, Liu W. Nitric oxide interacts with caveolin-1 to facilitate autophagy-lysosome-mediated claudin-5 degradation in oxygen-glucose deprivation-treated endothelial cells. Mol Neurobiol. 2016;53:5935–47.
- Stamatovic SM, Johnson AM, Sladojevic N, Keep RF, Andjelkovic AV. Endocytosis of tight junction proteins and the regulation of degradation and recycling. Ann NY Acad Sci. 2017;1397:54–65.
- Jin X, Liu J, Liu W. Early ischemic blood brain barrier damage: a potential indicator for hemorrhagic transformation following tissue plasminogen activator (tPA) thrombolysis? Curr Neurovasc Res. 2014;11:254–62.
- 214. Fawcett JW, Asher RA. The glial scar and central nervous system repair. Brain Res Bull. 1999;49:377–91.
- Faulkner JR, Herrmann JE, Woo MJ, Tansey KE, Doan NB, Sofroniew MV. Reactive astrocytes protect tissue and preserve function after spinal cord injury. J Neurosci. 2004;24:2143–55.
- 216. Sofroniew MV, Vinters HV. Astrocytes: biology and pathology. Acta Neuropathol. 2010;119:7–35.
- 217. Howe MD, Furr JW, Munshi Y, Roy-O'Reilly MA, Maniskas ME, Koellhoffer EC, D'Aigle J, Sansing LH, McCullough LD, Urayama A. Transforming growth factor-beta promotes basement membrane fibrosis, alters perivascular cerebrospinal fluid distribution, and worsens neurological recovery in the aged brain after stroke. GeroScience. 2019;41:543–59.
- Baron J-C, Yamauchi H, Fujioka M, Endres M. Selective neuronal loss in ischemic stroke and cerebrovascular disease. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2014;34:2–18.
- 219. Baron JC. How healthy is the acutely reperfused ischemic penumbra? Cerebrovasc Dis. 2005;20(Suppl 2):25–31.
- 220. National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke rt-PA Stroke Study Group. Tissue plasminogen activator for acute ischemic stroke. N Engl J Med. 1995;333:1581–7.
- Kwiatkowski TG, Libman RB, Frankel M, Tilley BC, Morgenstern LB, Lu M, Broderick JP, Lewandowski CA, Marler JR, Levine SR, Brott T. Effects of tissue plasminogen activator for acute ischemic stroke at one year. N Engl J Med. 1999;340:1781–7.
- Furlan AJ. Endovascular therapy for stroke—it's about time. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:2347–9.
- 223. Intercollegiate_Stroke_Working_Party. National Clinical Guideline for Stroke for the UK and Ireland. 2023. [www.strokeguidline.org]
- 224. Gerzanich V, Kwon MS, Woo SK, Ivanov A, Simard JM. SUR1-TRPM4 channel activation and phasic secretion of MMP-9 induced by tPA in brain endothelial cells. PLoS ONE. 2018;13: e0195526.
- 225. Reulen HJ, Tsuyumu M, Tack A, Fenske AR, Prioleau GR. Clearance of edema fluid into cerebrospinal fluid. A mechanism for resolution of vasogenic brain edema. J Neurosurg. 1978;48:754–64.
- Reulen HJ. Bulk flow and diffusion revisited, and clinical applications. In: Czernicki Z, Baethmann A, Ito U, Katayama Y, Kuroiwa T, Mendelow AD, editors. Brain edema XIV, vol. 106. Vienna: Springer-Verlag; 2010. p. 3–13.
- 227. Shulman K, Marmarou A, Weitz S. Gradients of brain interstitial fluid pressure in experimental brain infusion and compression. In: Lundberg N, Ponten U, Broch M, editors. Intracranial pressure II : proceedings of the 2nd international symposium lund, june 1974. Berlin, New York: Springer-Verlag; 1975.

- Marmarou A, Tanaka K, Schulman K. The brain response to infusion edema: dynamics of fluid resolution. In: Hartmann A, Brock M, editors. Treatment of cerebral edema. Berlin: Springer; 1982. p. 11–8.
- 229. Groeger U, Marmarou A. The importance of protein content in the oedema fluid for the resolution of brain oedema. Acta Neurochir. 1989;101:134–40.
- Ohata K, Marmarou A, Povlishock JT. An immunocytochemical study of protein clearance in brain infusion edema. Acta Neuropathol. 1990;81:162–77.
- 231. Ohata K, Marmarou A. Clearance of brain edema and macromolecules through the cortical extracellular space. J Neurosurg. 1992;77:387–96.
- Marmarou A, Hochwald G, Nakamura T, Tanaka K, Weaver J, Dunbar J. Brain edema resolution by CSF pathways and brain vasculature in cats. Am J Physiol. 1994;267:H514–20.
- Reulen HJ, Graham R, Fenske A, Klatzo I. The role of tissue pressure and bulk flow in the formation and resolution of cold-induced edema. In: Pappius HM, Feindel W, editors. Dynamics of cerebral edema. Berlin: Springer-Verlag; 1976. p. 103–12.
- 234. Marmarou A, Takagi H, Shulman K. Biomechanics of brain edema and effects on local cerebral blood flow. In: Cervós-Navarro J, Ferszt R, editors. Brain edema : pathology, diagnosis and therapy. New York: Raven Press; 1980.
- Hussain R, Tithof J, Wang W, Cheetham-West A, Song W, Peng W, Sigurdsson B, Kim D, Sun Q, Peng S, et al. Potentiating glymphatic drainage minimizes post-traumatic cerebral oedema. Nature. 2023;623:992–1000.
- 236. Hossmann KA, Schuier FJ. Experimental brain infarcts in cats I pathophysiological observations. Stroke. 1980;11:583–92.
- 237. Klatzo I, Schuier F, Orzi F, Wilmes F, Chui E, Suzuki R, Fujiwara K, Nitsch C, Laursen H, Fenton I, Coping G. Interrelationships between cerebral blood flow (CBF) and brain edema (BE). In: Minderhoud JM, editor. Cerebral blood flow: basic knowledge and clinical implications. Amersterdam Oxford Princeton: Excerpta Medica; 1981. p. 160–73.
- Little JR, Kerr FW, Sundt TM Jr. Microcirculatory obstruction in focal cerebral ischemia relationship to neuronal alterations. Mayo Clinic proceedings. 1975;50:264–70.
- Little JR, Kerr FWL, Sundt TM. Microcirculatory obstruction in focal cerebral ischemia: an electron microscopic investigation in monkeys. Stroke. 1976;7:25–30.
- 240. Back T, Ginsberg MD, Dietrich WD, Watson BD. Induction of spreading depression in the ischemic hemisphere following experimental middle cerebral artery occlusion: effect on infarct morphology. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 1996;16:202–13.
- Battey TWK, Karki M, Singhal AB, Wu O, Sadaghiani S, Campbell BCV, Davis SM, Donnan GA, Sheth KN, Kimberly WT. Brain edema predicts outcome after nonlacunar ischemic stroke. Stroke. 2014;45:3643–8.
- Ortega FJ, Jolkkonen J, Mahy N, Rodríguez MJ. Glibenclamide enhances neurogenesis and improves long-term functional recovery after transient focal cerebral ischemia. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2013;33:356–64.
- McBride DW, Klebe D, Tang J, Zhang JH. Correcting for brain swelling's effects on infarct volume calculation after middle cerebral artery occlusion in rats. Trans Stroke Res. 2015;6:323–38.
- Robert SM, Reeves BC, Alper SL, Zhang J, Kahle KT. New drugs on the horizon for cerebral edema: what's in the clinical development pipeline? Expert Opin Investig Drugs. 2020. https://doi.org/10.1080/13543 784.2020.1813715.
- Robergs RA, Ghiasvand F, Parker D. Biochemistry of exercise-induced metabolic acidosis. Am J Physiol-Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2004;287:R502–16.
- Böning D, Maassen N. Last word on point: counterpoint: Lactic acid is/ is not the only physicochemical contributor to the acidosis of exercise. J Appl Physiol. 2008;105:368–368.
- 247. Kimelberg HK, Nedergaard M. Functions of astrocytes and their potential as therapeutic targets. Neurotherapeutics. 2010;7:338–53.
- 248. Robergs RA, McNulty CR, Minett GM, Holland J, Trajano G. Lactate, not lactic acid, is produced by cellular cytosolic energy catabolism. Physiology. 2018;33:10–2.
- 249. Ferguson BS, Rogatzki MJ, Goodwin ML, Kane DA, Rightmire Z, Gladden LB. Lactate metabolism: historical context, prior misinterpretations, and current understanding. Eur J Appl Physiol. 2018;118:691–728.

- Qian Q. Lactate, not lactic acid, is produced by cellular cytosolic energy catabolism reply. Physiology. 2018;33:13–13.
- 251. Berg JM, Tymoczko JL, Stryer L. Biochemistry. 5th ed. New York: W.H. Freeman and Company; 2002.
- 252. Liu R, Wang H, Xu B, Chen W, Turlova E, Dong N, Sun CLF, Lu Y, Fu H, Shi R, et al. Cerebrovascular safety of sulfonylureas: the role of KATP channels in neuroprotection and the risk of stroke in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes. 2016;65:2795–809.
- 253. Siesjö BK, Kjällquist A. A new theory for the regulation of the extracellular pH in the brain. Scand J Clin Lab Invest. 1969;24:1–9.
- Siesjö BK. Lactic acidosis in the brain: occurrence, triggering mechanisms and pathophysiological importance. In: Porter R, Lawrenson G, editors. Metabolic acidosis. London: Pitman Books Ltd; 1982. p. 77–100.
- 255. Müller M, Somjen GG. Inhibition of major cationic inward currents prevents spreading depression-like hypoxic depolarization in rat hippocampal tissue slices. Brain Res. 1998;812:1–13.
- Pietrobon D, Moskowitz MA. Chaos and commotion in the wake of cortical spreading depression and spreading depolarizations. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2014;15:379–93.
- Luo Z-W, Ovcjak A, Wong R, Yang B-X, Feng Z-P, Sun H-S. Drug development in targeting ion channels for brain edema. Acta Pharmacol Sin. 2020;41:1272–88.
- Kimelberg HK, Bowman CL, Hirata H. Anion transport in astrocytes. Ann NY Acad Sci. 1986;481:334–53.
- Kimelberg HK. Anisotonic media and glutamate-induced ion transport and volume responses in primary astrocyte cultures. Journal de Physiologie. 1987;82:294–303.
- Walz W. Swelling and potassium uptake in cultured astrocytes. Can J Physiol Pharmacol. 1987;65:1051–7.
- 261. Clayton GH, Owens GC, Wolff JS, Smith RL. Ontogeny of cation-Cl- cotransporter expression in rat neocortex. Dev Brain Res. 1998;109:281–92.
- Zhang Y, Chen K, Sloan SA, Bennett ML, Scholze AR, O'Keeffe S, Phatnani HP, Guarnieri P, Caneda C, Ruderisch N, et al. An RNA-sequencing transcriptome and splicing database of glia, neurons, and vascular cells of the cerebral cortex. J Neurosci. 2014;34:11929–47.
- 263. Jauch R, Windmuller O, Lehmann TN, Heinemann U, Gabriel S. Effects of barium, furosemide, ouabaine and 4,4 '-diisothiocyanatostilbene-2,2 '-disulfonic acid (DIDS) on ionophoretically-induced changes in extracellular potassium concentration in hippocampal slices from rats and from patients with epilepsy. Brain Res. 2002;925:18–27.
- Xiong Z-Q, Stringer JL. Sodium pump activity, not glial spatial buffering, clears potassium after epileptiform activity induced in the dentate gyrus. J Neurophysiol. 2000;83:1443–51.
- D'Ambrosio R, Gordon DS, Winn HR. Differential role of KIR channel and Na+/ K+-pump in the regulation of extracellular K+ in rat hippocampus. J Neurophysiol. 2002;87:87–102.
- 266. Sweadner KJ. Isozymes of the Na+/K+-ATPase. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Rev Biomembranes. 1989;988:185–220.
- McGrail KM, Phillips JM, Sweadner KJ. Immunofluorescent localization of three Na, K-ATPase isozymes in the rat central nervous system: both neurons and glia can express more than one Na K-ATPase. J Neurosci. 1991;11:381.
- Sweadner KJ. Overlapping and diverse distribution of Na–KATPase isozymes in neurons and glia. Can J Physiol Pharmacol. 1992;70:S255–9.
- Larsen BR, Stoica A, MacAulay N. Managing brain extracellular k+ during neuronal activity: The physiological role of the NA+/K+-ATPase subunit isoforms. Front Physiol. 2016;7:141.
- 270. Bedner P, Jabs R, Steinhäuser C. Properties of human astrocytes and NG2 glia. Glia. 2020;68:756–67.
- 271. Danbolt NC. Glutamate uptake. Prog Neurobiol. 2001;65:1-105.
- Neusch C, Papadopoulos N, Müller M, Maletzki I, Winter SM, Hirrlinger J, Handschuh M, Bähr M, Richter DW, Kirchhoff F, Hülsmann S. Lack of the Kir41 channel subunit abolishes K+ buffering properties of astrocytes in the ventral respiratory group: impact on extracellular K+ regulation. J Neurophysiol. 2006;95:1843–52.
- 273. Du Y, Kiyoshi CM, Wang Q, Wang W, Ma B, Alford CC, Zhong S, Wan Q, Chen H, Lloyd EE, et al. Genetic Deletion of TREK-1 or TWIK-1/TREK-1 potassium channels does not alter the basic electrophysiological properties of mature hippocampal astrocytes In Situ. Front Cell Neurosci. 2016. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2016.00013.

- 274. Päsler D, Gabriel S, Heinemann U. Two-pore-domain potassium channels contribute to neuronal potassium release and glial potassium buffering in the rat hippocampus. Brain Res. 2007;1173:14–26.
- Zhou M, Xu G, Xie M, Zhang X, Schools GP, Ma L, Kimelberg HK, Chen H. TWIK-1 and TREK-1 are potassium channels contributing significantly to astrocyte passive conductance in rat hippocampal slices. J Neurosci. 2009;29:8551.
- Hwang EM, Kim E, Yarishkin O, Woo DH, Han K-S, Park N, Bae Y, Woo J, Kim D, Park M, et al. A disulphide-linked heterodimer of TWIK-1 and TREK-1 mediates passive conductance in astrocytes. Nat Commun. 2014;5:3227.
- Kimelberg HK, Biddlecome S, Bourke RS. SITS-inhibitable Cl- transport and Na+-dependent H+ production in primary astroglial cultures. Brain Res. 1979;173:111–24.
- Kimelberg HK, Bourke RS. Anion transport in the nervous system. In: Lajtha A, editor. Anion transport in the nervous system. 2nd ed. City: Plenum; 1982. p. 31–67.
- Mellergard P, Ouyang YB, Siesjo BK. Intracellular pH regulation in cultured rat astrocytes in CO2/HCO3(-)-containing media. Exp Brain Res. 1993;95:371–80.
- Shrode LD, Putnam RW. Intracellular pH regulation in primary rat astrocytes and C6 glioma-cells. Glia. 1994;12:196–210.
- Theparambil SM, Naoshin Z, Thyssen A, Deitmer JW. Reversed electrogenic sodium bicarbonate cotransporter1 is the major acid loader during recovery from cytosolic alkalosis in mouse cortical astrocytes. J Physiol. 2015;593:3533–47.
- Toft-Bertelsen TL, Larsen BR, Christensen SK, Khandelia H, Waagepetersen HS, MacAulay N. Clearance of activity-evoked K+ transients and associated glia cell swelling occur independently of AQP4: a study with an isoformselective AQP4 inhibitor. Glia. 2020. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.23851.
- Haj-Yasein NN, Jensen V, Ostby I, Omholt SW, Voipio J, Kaila K, Ottersen OP, Hvalby O, Nagelhus EA. Aquaporin-4 regulates extracellular space volume dynamics during high-frequency synaptic stimulation: a gene deletion study in mouse hippocampus. Glia. 2012;60:867–74.
- Solenov E, Watanabe H, Manley GT, Verkman AS. Sevenfold-reduced osmotic water permeability in primary astrocyte cultures from AQP-4-deficient mice, measured by a fluorescence quenching method. Am J Physiol. 2004;286:C426–32.
- Bartko P, Reulen HJ, Koch H, Schürmann K. Effect of dexamethasone on the early edema following occlusion of the middle cerebral artery in cats. In: Reulen HJ, Schürmann K, editors. Steroids and brain edema. Berlin: Springer; 1972. p. 127–37.
- Yang GY, Chen SF, Kinouchi H, Chan PH, Weinstein PR. Edema, cation content, and ATPase activity after middle cerebral artery occlusion in rats. Stroke. 1992;23:1331–6.
- Ito U, Ohno K, Nakamura R, Suganuma F, Inaba Y. Brain edema during ischemia and after restoration of blood-flow - measurement of water, sodium, potassium content and plasma-protein permeability. Stroke. 1979;10:542–7.
- Betz AL, Ennis SR, Schielke GP. Blood-brain barrier sodium transport limits development of brain edema during partial ischemia in gerbils. Stroke. 1989;20:1253–9.
- Wang Y, Hu W, Perez-Trepichio Alejandro D, Ng Thian C, Furlan Anthony J, Majors Anthony W, Jones Stephen C. Brain tissue sodium is a ticking clock telling time after arterial occlusion in rat focal cerebral ischemia. Stroke. 2000;31:1386–92.
- Keep RF, Hua Y, Xi G. Brain water content. A misunderstood measurement? Trans Stroke Res. 2012;3:263–5.
- 291. Murtha LA, McLeod DD, Pepperall D, McCann SK, Beard DJ, Tomkins AJ, Holmes WM, McCabe C, Macrae IM, Spratt NJ. Intracranial pressure elevation after ischemic stroke in rats: cerebral edema is not the only cause, and short-duration mild hypothermia is a highly effective preventive therapy. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2015;35:592–600.
- 292. Donnan FG. Theorie der Membrangleichgewichte und Membranpotentiale bei Vorhandensein von nicht dialysierenden. Elektrolyten Ein Beitrag zur physikalisch-chemischen Physiologie. Zeitschrift für Elektrochemie und angewandte physikalische Chemie. 1911;17:572–81.
- 293. Donnan FG. The theory of membrane equilibria. Chem Rev. 1924;1:73–90.
- 294. Boyle PJ, Conway EJ. Potassium accumulation in muscle and associated changes. J Physiol. 1941;100:1–63.

- 295. Elkin BS, Shaik MA, Morrison B. Fixed negative charge and the Donnan effect: a description of the driving forces associated with brain tissue swelling and oedema. Philos Trans R Soc A-Math Phys Eng Sci. 2010;368:585–603.
- 296. Elkin BS, Shaik MA, Morrison BI. Chondroitinase abc reduces brain tissue swelling in vitro. J Neurotrauma. 2011;28:2277–85.
- Lang GE, Stewart PS, Vella D, Waters SL, Goriely A. Is the Donnan effect sufficient to explain swelling in brain tissue slices? J R Soc Interface. 2014;11:20140123.
- Basilio AV, Xu P, Takahashi Y, Yanaoka T, Sugaya H, Ateshian GA, Morrison B III. Simulating cerebral edema and delayed fatality after traumatic brain injury using triphasic swelling biomechanics. Traffic Inj Prev. 2019;20:820–5.
- Wulff H, Miller MJ, Hänsel W, Grissmer S, Cahalan MD, Chandy KG. Design of a potent and selective inhibitor of the intermediate-conductance Ca2+activated K+ channel, IKCa1: a potential immunosuppressant. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2000;97:8151–6.

Publisher's Note

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.